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Photography: Front: “The floor 
shook and the bombs were so loud. 
This was my childhood.” Alexandra 
Guerrero remembers what it was like 
when the bombs fell, when the heli-
copters approached, when the gunfire 
became intense. Today, Alexandra is 
working on turning the peace agre-
ement between the FARC guerrilla and 
the Colombian government, signed in 
2016, into a reality. She works for one 
of Diakonia’s partner organizations 
and runs a peace school for women in 
areas severely afflicted by war.

Back: Pastor Moses Disri fled to 
Thailand more than 20 years ago. He 
is part of the Karen ethnic  minority 
group, who were systematically 
oppressed by the military regime 
in Burma/Myanmar. Many ethnic 
 minorities lack legal status and have 
no rights in areas such as medical 
care, education, pensions and the 
right to vote. Diakonia’s partner 
organization conveys knowledge, 
 provides  support and gives advice 
in the process of achieving legal 
 status. “I was so happy when I got my 
 citizenship,” says Moses. 
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Diakonia’s operations – global 
objectives and results 2016
Pages 12–23, 26–27, 33

Diakonia works for sustainable change. 
To achieve this, we have drawn up a 
global strategy, along with strategies at 
regional and country level. Our  activities, 
e.g. to increase women’s political 
 participation, are carried out in country 
programmes. To be able to follow up 
and show the results of our activities, we 
have developed global objectives that we 
 follow during a strategy period of five 
years. In the long term, the work towards 
the global objectives will contribute to 
the fulfilment of Diakonia’s overall goal 
and the Sustainable Development Goals 
of the 2030 Agenda.

Pages 12–23 present the six interven-
tion areas and the global objectives that 
Diakonia is striving to achieve. The 
diagrams and statistics show the number 
of projects that have been carried out 
in 2016 and the resources channelled 
to partner organizations within each 
 objective. Large parts of the projects 
cover several thematic areas and the 
statistics show the main focus in each 
project.
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Diakonia’s vision 
is a just, equal and 
sustainable world.

Rahim Nasser is a climate activist from Tanzania. 
He says that the weather has become erratic, with 
both flooding and  periods of severe drought. “You 
can no longer rely on the rainy seasons, and harvests 
often fail. There is great  competition for the food 
and water available, which leads to conflicts between 
people. In some areas, these conflicts are really 
 serious. We’re seeing more and more climate refugees 
in our country. Climate change isn’t about weather. 
It’s a question of life and death. I would like those of 
you in wealthy countries to reduce your emissions 
now. And give us money so that we can survive.” 
Photo: Per Hanstorp
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Diakonia’s mission 
and overall goal is to change unfair political, 
economic, social and cultural structures that 
generate poverty, inequality, oppression and violence. 
Diakonia works with the most vulnerable people, local 
partners and other strategic actors for the  fulfilment 
of the right of all people to live a life in dignity 
 irrespective of age, class, disability, ethnicity, gender, 
nationality, political conviction, religion, or sexual 
 orientation and identity.
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Ashalata Munda lost her home and 
everything she had in a cyclone 
and was forced to flee. Through 
Diakonia’s partner organization, she 
and her neighbour received  training 
and seeds that can grow on the 
 barren, salinated land. Today, they are 
virtually self-sufficient. 
Photo: Martina Holmberg
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How Diakonia works

Diakonia was founded in 1966 and its 
principals are the Christian denomina-
tions the Swedish Alliance Mission and 
the Uniting Church in Sweden.

50 years’ experience

Diakonia’s intervention areas are human 
rights, democracy, gender equality, social 
and economic justice, conflict and justice, 
and emergency response and disaster 
 resilience. All operations are rights-
based, i.e. characterised by qualitative 
participation, taking and  exercising 
 responsibility, transparency and 
 openness, equality,  non-discrimination 
and focus on human rights.

Six intervention areas

When disaster strikes, Diakonia’s work 
changes character. It is then initially 
about saving lives. Then comes the 
 reconstruction. Diakonia and local 
 partner organizations are present before, 
during and after a humanitarian crisis. 
Partner organizations have good local 
knowledge and know-how, which in-
creases the possibilities to save lives and 
livelihoods before any big humanitarian 
actors are in place. 

First save lives – then 
reconstruct 

In Sweden, Diakonia helps to bring about 
change by informing and engaging 
people, shaping opinion and influencing 
Swedish policy. Swedish international 
development policy is at the heart of our 
work. The work also includes foreign and 
domestic policy that has a bearing on 
poverty, human rights and justice.

Politics with a bearing on 
poverty

Long-term development cooperation, 
humanitarian actions and advocacy work 
form the focus of our work. We do all 
this together with around 400 locally 
and popularly rooted movements, faith 
 communities and organizations in more 
than 30 countries around the world.

It is people who are 
 changing the world

Diakonia performs extensive  quality 
 assurance work at all levels of the 
 organization. We have internal rules 
and guidelines but are also governed by 
 external rules and requirements.

Quality assurance

For us, the most important drivers behind 
social change are when people are aware 
of their rights and organize themselves in 
order to claim these rights together. 
We therefore support people who stand 
in defiance of undignified life circum-
stances and social structures that give 
rise to poverty and marginalisation. We 
know that it is possible to change the 
world. But we also know that it requires 
tenacity, perseverance and courage. The 
organizations we work with often receive 
support from Diakonia over many years. 

Long-term work requiring 
persistence 
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What was Diakonia’s major challenge 
last year?
“The major challenge was that the respect for 
democracy and human rights is under threat. We’ve 
seen this for several years, but it was accentuated in 
2016 and seen in several elections held throughout 
the world. We can see a pattern: how authoritarian 
leaders are rewriting legislation and doing all they 
can to maintain their positions and restrict oppor-
tunities for opposition and respect for human 
rights. This is taking place all over the world.”

What happened in 2016 that gave you 
hope?
“Two things inspired hope. One of them was the 
situation in Burkina Faso, a process that began 
at the end of 2015 but continued in 2016. What 
we saw was that the former president wanted 
to rewrite the constitution in order to stay in 
power, and it came extremely close to civil war. 
But  Diakonia’s partner organizations managed 
to achieve change and a peaceful election was 
finally held. A system has now been devised to 
 methodically demand political accountability 
and follow up on this in close dialogue with the 
government (see page 14). The second example is 
Colombia, where after decades of civil war, a peace 
agreement was finally reached. This is something 

that our partner organizations have actively strug-
gled for over so many years.” 

Name one occasion in 2016 when you felt 
proud to be working for Diakonia.
“It was when I met people like Islena, Vanny and 
Yasmin1. Proud is actually the wrong word – I feel 
small and humble, because who am I compared to 
these women who sacrifice everything for others? 
At the same time, I feel incredibly privileged to be 
involved in these contexts and to have these people 
as close friends and colleagues. It gives life an extra 
dimension.”

What did you learn from Diakonia’s work 
over the past year?
“What I learned, and constantly keep  learning, is 
that despite the challenging situation in many of 
the countries in which we work, there are always 
people who refuse to give up. These included Tep 
Vanny in Cambodia, who was a housewife but 
stepped forward as a political leader when it was 
necessary. Today she is in prison for the third time 
and is paying a huge personal price in the fight for 
rights and dignity. I’ve met people with this kind 
of courage in Palestine, Mozambique, Colombia… 
everywhere we work. There’s a Tep Vanny in every 
country.”

Four questions to Diakonia’s Secretary General Bo Forsberg

Challenges, hope, pride 
and lessons learned
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1. Islena Rey Rodríguez is a Colombian human 
rights defender; Tep Vanny is a human rights 
defender from Cambodia. Yasmin Barrios is a 
 Guatemalan lawyer who had the former dictator 
Efraín Ríos Montt convicted of genocide (the 
 sentence was later overturned, however).

What I learned, and constantly keep 
 learning, is that despite the  challenging 
situation in many of the countries in 
which we work, there are always people 
who refuse to give up.”

“

Read also about how other people from Diakonia 
and Diakonia’s partner organizations responded to 
the same questions (pages 12–21 and 30–31).

Diakonia’s Secretary General Bo Forsberg on a visit to Palestine, a trip that deeply moved him. “When we left Gaza, I felt almost physically 
sick. I felt guilty about coming from wealthy Sweden and listening to what the people were exposed to. But on the way home, my despair 
turned into anger. I felt that we had to carry on working for change.” Photo: Omar I. El Qattaa. 
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Over the past year, reactionary movements led by representatives of the church working against 
the rights of LGBTI people have widened their political sphere of influence. These groups have 
 delegitimised human rights defenders working for sexual and reproductive rights. This is no unique 
strategy in Colombia but simply a reality in several countries in the region.” 
Marcela Sanchez, Colombia Diversa, Colombia when asked, “What was the biggest challenge your organization faced in 2016?” 

“

Fake judicial processes against human 
rights defenders can be used as a tool 
to restrict democracy and freedom of 
speech. This means that efforts must 
be made to ensure that human rights 
 defenders are released. In Guatemala, 
seven defenders of indigenous rights 
were released thanks to the work of 
partner organizations. In Honduras, 
41 human rights defenders received 
legal support after being imprisoned 
following protests against multinational  corporations producing palm oil.

Results 2016

Human rights 
 defenders released

In Thailand, partner organizations are 

working to ensure that stateless ethnic 

minorities are given legal status. In 2016, 

the legal status of more than 29,000 

people was confirmed and over 6,000 

were given citizenship, half of whom 

were women. 

Results 2016

Stateless acquired 

legal status

Human rights are being placed under increas-
ing pressure. Nationalism, populism and 
 fundamentalist conservative currents are 
 threatening women’s rights, sexual and reproduc-
tive rights, the right to asylum and the opportuni-
ties of civil society to take action.  It has become 
more important than ever to work to ensure 
respect for human rights. People continue to 
 educate and mobilize around human rights. 
 They are documenting abuses and elaborating 
shadow reports, working with political advocacy 
and in many cases risking their lives. According 

to the Global Witness report for 2016, human 
rights defenders were murdered in  several of the 
countries in which Diakonia  operates.  Forty-nine 
per cent of those murdered were defending land, 
indigenous and environmental rights. In addition, 
women and LGBTI people were attacked due 
to their gender or gender  identity or their sexual 
 orientation. Political consensus on these issues will 
be incredibly important, along with transparency 
and accountability on the part of the private and 
public sectors.

Human rights

Naw Ngar Lay, border area between Myanmar/

Burma and Thailand. Photography: Diakonia
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Empowerment 
of human rights 
 defenders 

59 projects

Fulfilment of 
women’s rights 

17 projects

Fulfilment of human 
rights commitments

28 projects

GLOBAL OBJECTIVESHUMAN RIGHTS

Human rights
Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled 
SEK 416 million, and of these 20 % were used 
for the thematic area human rights 

In Mozambique, partner organizations are helping to ensure that the quality 
of public health care and education is 
improved based on the human rights 
recognised in national legislation and 
international conventions. They train 
and involve citizens in human rights, 
 scrutinise public services and influence authorities and decision makers. In 2016, this led to initiatives such as the govern-ment funding school infrastructure.

Results 2016

Scrutinizing the public 
sector

For the first time ever, Congolese civil  society 
has produced an alternative report on women’s 
rights. Three of Diakonia’s partner  organizations 
created the Femme plus network and an 
 advocacy plan for the application of the  African 
Women’s Decade manifesto (recognised by the 
UN and the African Union). This is necessary 
because despite the Congolese  government 
 having made important commitments and 
 ratified conventions to protect women, the 
 situation in the country is alarming. Together 
with other civil society organizations, Femme 
Plus worked with the Ministry for Gender 
Equality, the Congolese army’s unit to counteract 
sexual violence and the UN bodies MONUSCO 
and UN Women. 

The network engaged in raising awareness 
among citizens and gather data in the Dem-
ocratic Republic of the Congo’s 11 provinces. 
In each province, one person was elected who 
trained at least 20 civil society representatives. In 
the next phase, the focus will be on implement-
ing the African Women’s Decade. Femme Plus is 
in the process of becoming a point of reference 
and is planning further alternative reports.

Women’s rights in 
focus

Bela Lithuri. Photo: Diakonia
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Examples of how the democratic space has grown are few, but Sri Lanka is 
one of them. Partner organizations 
have initiated the March 12 Movement, which has strengthened the democrat-
ic culture in the country. They have 
involved religious leaders in advising 
representatives of political parties. This has led among other things to young 
parliamentarians advocating non-cor-
ruption in politics, and to a new system for  inclusive local elections being 
established, which includes quotas for women.  

Results 2016

Strengthened 
democracy

Closely linked to questioning universal human 
rights is the democratic backlash that has 
taken place in many of the countries in which 
 Diakonia works. The consequences are  extensive, 
regardless of whether they are political, legal 
or  administrative. This repressive trend is 
 primarily affecting those who already have the 
least power in society: women, LGBTI people, 
young  people and  indigenous peoples. But the 

demands for a  democratic culture, accountability 
and  transparency are increasing at the same time 
as people are mobilising. This can contribute to 
greater resilience when governments try to change 
constitutions to stay in power, or when corruption 
undermines people’s confidence and steals fund-
ing that should have gone to development. This 
needs to be highlighted and requires political and 
 financial support.  

Democracy

Diakonia’s partner organizations in Burkina Faso have fought hard for free and 
peaceful elections. Despite a difficult situation in the country and an attempted 
military coup, the election took place in November 2015, and work to develop the 
democracy has been in progress since then. Photo: Reuters/Joe Penney.

The work we initiated in Burkina Faso with Presimetre (a tool for following up on the President’s 
 commitments and hold him accountable) and the contribution it makes towards developing 
 democracy. Burkina is more open to discussions now and people are prepared to solve conflicts 
 without violence. This shows that our work has been significant.” 
Edmond Odaba, Africa Economic Justice Programme, Nairobi when asked, “Which event in 2016 instilled hope?”

“
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In Egypt, the authorities did not grant permission for the planned work of the partner organizations. The activities and Diakonia’s support were therefore redirected towards boosting capacity in areas such as gender mainstreaming and internal control.

Results 2016

Support for internal 
control

The programme for disabled  people’s 

rights on the West Bank and in Gaza 

demonstrates the importance of  taking 

a long-term approach in order to 

achieve sustainable results. The focus 

has been on boosting the capacity and 

 organization of disabled people, along 

with  ensuring that the costs of and 

responsibility for the programmes are 

taken over by local government. Local 

government now pays 84 per cent of 

the salaries of the local rehabilitation 

personnel

Results 2016

Fruits of a long-term 

approach

Ahlam Gazaboglee och Tagreed Abuhatab. 

Photo: Kent Klich.

Women’s participation in politics is indispensa-
ble to achieving full democracy. In Peru, partner 
organizations and ten other organizations have 
campaigned under the slogan “More women – 
more democracy”, advocating a feminist agenda 
in legislation and public policy. Focus has been 
directed towards ensuring gender parity on 
 electoral lists, along with access to safe and legal 
abortion in the event of rape. Three new propos-
als for legislation have been presented, and the 
 organizations have conducted a dialogue with 
the Ministry of Women and Vulnerable Popula-
tions and the election commissions, successfully 
 presenting the proposal for gender parity when 
legislation pertaining to elections is reformed. 
All these initiatives have been crucial in terms 
of empowering women, enabling new alliances 
and garnering support from various parts of 
civil  society, the authorities and the media, as an 
 alternative to a conservative offensive that wishes 
to block all proposals for gender equality.

Three new legislations

Democratic culture

71 projects

Good governance

20 projects

Women’s political 
 participation

13 projects

Enabling environment 
for civil society

10 projects

GLOBAL OBJECTIVESDEMOCRACY

Democracy
Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled SEK 
416 million, and of these 27 % were used for 
the thematic area democracy.
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Every day, Diakonia and its partner organizations 
join others in the fight for gender justice. Last 
year saw sexual and reproductive rights under 
attack on both a global level and in many coun-
tries. Women are still underrepresented in politics 
and decision-making positions. Conflicts and 
increasing militarisation cement destructive gen-
der roles and turn women’s bodies into targets, 
and when peace is negotiated women are often 

excluded.  Legislation discriminates against women 
in many cases instead of protecting them. LGBTI 
people are stigmatised all over the world, and 
 gender-based violence is widespread. 

In spite of this 2016 also saw large-scale 
 mobilisation for women’s rights on the streets 
and in social media. Not only activists but also 
‘ ordinary’ men and women demonstrated for 
 gender equality. 2016 shows that our work is more 
important than ever.

Gender equality

In Paraguay partner organizations 
and others have contributed to a 
new  resolution being adopted. It 
 recognises the identity of trans 
 persons and sets out that the state 
must offer better health care and 
better legal support for trans women. 
In a country where trans women are 
stigmatised and discriminated, this is 
an important step forward. 

Results 2016

Recognition of trans 
persons rightsIn rural Bangladesh, partner organiza-

tions have been encouraging young girls 

to learn to ride bicycles and play  

football. The girls have broken down 

gender norms by doing typical ‘boy 

activities’. They have started to move 

around more freely and improved their 

self-esteem. The girls, their parents and 

local authorities have worked together 

to change attitudes towards girls doing 

sport.

Results 2016

Breaking gender norms

When girls take part in activities, their self-esteem grows, along with their social mobility. This helps 
to change negative attitudes towards girls in society, and it prevents sexual harassment and girls 
marrying too early.”  
Rabiul Azam, Manab Kallyan Parished (MKP), Bangladesh when asked, “Can you tell us something you learned from Diakonia’s work 

in 2016?” 

“

Anjuman Min, Bangladesh. Photo: MKP/Diakonia.

Yren Rotela, Paraguay. Photo: Diakona.
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Lebanese law states that if a man 

rapes a woman and then marries her, 

he can avoid punishment. Our partner 

 organizations and other women’s rights 

 organizations launched the campaign 

“A wedding dress doesn’t hide rape” to 

influence decision makers. The campaign 

received a great deal of attention, and the 

fight to change the law continues.

Results 2016

Campaign against rape

In the Insiza district of Zimbabwe,  Diakonia’s 
partner organizations are fighting against 
 gender-based violence. They are training young 
and adult women in identifying and challenging 
harmful religious and traditional customs such as 
virginity tests, child marriage and forcing widows 
to marry the brothers of their deceased husbands. 
After the training, many decide to become advisers 
in their home villages, which means that women 
who have survived assault can now get help where 
they live.

The partner organization also works with police, 
authorities and traditional and religious leaders 
to ensure that they take responsibility. They lead 
men’s groups that discuss topics such as the causes 
of gender-based violence. Involving men and local 
leaders has led to increased support for survivors 
and to gender-based violence being condemned.

Acceptance of violence is declining, and more 
cases of gender-based violence are reaching the 
courts now that women feel more secure in report-
ing these crimes without fear of reprisals or being 
stigmatised.

Fighting against 
 gender-based violence

Combating gender 
based violence

64 projects

Men and boys for 
gender equality* 

* Please note that work on 
the global objective Men and 
boys for gender equality is 
included in other objectives 
(mostly combating gender 
based violence). 

Sexual and 
 reproductive health 
and rights

9 projects

LGBTI rights

8 projects

GLOBAL OBJECTIVESGENDER EQUALITY

Gender equality
Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled 
SEK 416 million, and of these 18 % were used 
for the thematic area gender equality.

Demonstration against the law. 

Photo: Patrick Baz.
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Problems with rights and confiscation of land in Cambodia mean that many seek work outside of agriculture. For those 
with no education, the jobs available are work in karaoke halls or in factories in tax-free zones. The new trade union 
legislation favours private actors. 
 Diakonia’s partner organizations educate workers in their rights and how to claim these rights.

Results 2016

Trained in rights

Extreme poverty has fallen to a record-low ten 
per cent, but inequality is increasing and vulner-
able people are becoming even more powerless. 
Women, girls and other marginalised groups are 
not managing to escape from poverty. Setbacks 
were experienced last year in terms of reinforcing 
women’s economic empowerment. Progress in 
Nicaragua and Mozambique shows, however, that 
political will is more important than money in 
achieving success.

Global warming is constantly accelerating and 
2016 was the warmest year on record. The interna-
tional community is mobilising in order to coun-
teract this, but progress is far too slow. Increasing 
consumption is also contributing to greater extrac-
tion of natural resources and people being dis-
placed and their living conditions worsening. The 
work of Diakonia’s partner organizations includes 
adapting people’s lives to climate change, demand-
ing climate policy that benefits them and helping 
them to identify new opportunities to provide for 
themselves and find decent work. 

Social and economic 
justice

Despite Somalia being one of the world’s 

poorest countries, an extremely large 

number of new companies are formed. 

Diakonia’s partner organization works to 

improve labour conditions. This concerns 

aspects such as working environment 

and pay discrimination. The organization 

also works in relation to authorities to 

ensure that international conventions are 

ratified and complied with.

Results 2016

Improving the working 

environment

I learnt a great deal at the regional meeting when country representatives presented the strategies and 
plans for 2016–2020. It was inspirational and for me, in my capacity as human resource staff for Africa 
region, it was vital information. It clarified how my efforts contribute to the wider work being done.”
Rehema Njuguna, Diakonia, Africa when asked, “What did you learn from Diakonia’s work in 2016?”

Nget Khoun, Kambodja. Photo: Diakonia.

“
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Economic 
 empowerment 
of women

19 projects

Sustainable 
 development and 
 climate justice

13 projects

Poverty in Latin America has decreased over the 
course of a decade but increased again in 2016. To 
combat poverty, Diakonia is working on improv-
ing women’s opportunities to earn an income. 
Partner organizations in Honduras, Nicaragua and 
Cuba, along with women’s groups, have analysed 
how their financial situation can be improved. 
This involves everything from  financial support 
for starting their own businesses to  establishing 
dialogue with local government and keeping 
discrimination against women  entrepreneurs in 
check.

Diakonia’s partner organization in  Honduras 
supports 31 enterprises run by women’s groups. 
These groups form part of a municipal net-
work. They are now engaged in dialogue 
with the authorities, enabling them to discuss 
 improvements in livelihoods. In Nicaragua, 
 partner organisations work with women and 
young  people belonging to indigenous peoples, 
addressing their opportunity to make a living 
in the mining area around Siuna, Rosita and 
Bonanza, where  conditions are tough. 

In Cuba, our partner organization is breaking 
new ground by using entrepreneurship in the fight 
against poverty – since the government made the 
historic decision to allow private entrepreneur-
ships.

Focus on women’s 
enterprise

Fair distribution of 
wealth and access to 
natural resources

50 projects

Decent work and fair 
income

10 projects

GLOBAL OBJECTIVESSOCIAL AND ECONOMIC JUSTICE

In areas in Kenya where large mining companies have operations, there are also informal, small-scale mines. There, many women work in catering.  Diakonia’s partner organization has supported the women, who are now  organizing  themselves around savings and  entrepreneurship. They also have places on a committee that is engaged in dialogue with the largest mining company.

Results 2016

Organizing themselves around entrepreneurship

Social and economic justice
Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled SEK 
416 million, and of these 23 % were used for 
the thematic area social and economic justice.

Mary Alwanyi. Photo: Fredrik Lerneryd.
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The biggest challenge is linked to the situation we’re living in. The challenge will be to equip our 
 children with the skills they need to express themselves freely and safely in the world. The most 
important thing of all is that our children grow up with faith in their hopes and dreams being kept 
alive, even during an occupation.”
Renad Quabbaj, Tamer Institute, oPt (= Palestine) when asked, “What was the biggest challenge in 2016?”

A citizens’ initiative for peace, organized by a partner organization in Mali, mobi-lised local authorities in a joint initiative to prevent and resolve violent conflicts in their municipality by peaceful means. The municipality in question noted a 90 per cent decrease in the number of violent conflicts linked to natural resources. 

Results 2016

Conflicts decreased in 
Mali

The number of armed conflicts around the world 
continued to increase and intensify in 2016. 
Increased elements of religion, organized crime 
and international interests in intergovernmen-
tal conflicts raise the level of complexity and 
obstruct attempts at mediation. Historic levels in 
terms of the number of refugees and the level of 
humanitarian need entail a major challenge for 
the Sustainable Development Goals. Extreme 
poverty is declining but the gaps are growing, as 
poverty is becoming increasingly concentrated in 

conflict affected areas. Despite the recognition 
that gender equality is crucial to sustainable peace, 
women remain marginalised. The link between the 
 environment, climate change and armed conflict is 
visible in many conflicts linked to the extraction of 
natural resources. 

The peace agreement in Colombia was a crucial 
exception in 2016. It shows the capacity of civil 
society to mobilise local voices into large social 
movements able to achieve consensus among 
 warring parties on an inclusive peace.

Conflict and justice

In 2016 Colombia’s government and the FARC guerrilla signed a peace agree-
ment that ended 52 years of civil war. This picture is from a demonstration in 
Bogotá.

“
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CONFLICT AND JUSTICE

Conflict and justice
Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled 
SEK 416 million, and of these 5 % were used for 
the thematic area conflict and justice.

Thanks to the work of a partner organization, many village, women’s and youth groups for peace were  established in Myanmar/Burma. The participants came up with and agreed on priorities for peace building at municipal and provincial level. Decision makers adopted the groups’ proposals and were involved in meetings and workshops. In these forums, decision makers shared information from the national peace negotiations.

Results 2016

Peace-building groups

After years of negotiations, the Colombian 
 government and the FARC guerrilla reached an 
agreement and a peace agreement was approved 
by Congress. Several of Diakonia’s partner 
 organizations were involved before and during 
the negotiations and presented demands for 
the inclusion of marginalised groups. Women’s 
groups, Afro-Colombians and indigenous peoples 
have been supported in claiming their rights and a 
peaceful solution to the conflict. The recognition 
of their rights during the negotiation process, the 
final agreement and mechanisms for implement-
ing the agreement are seen as historic successes. 
For Afro-Colombians and indigenous peoples, 
recognising and strengthening their land rights is 
crucial. Greater autonomy in the areas of health 
and education are also important steps towards 
a form of government that better reflects the 
 country’s ethnic and cultural diversity.

In the northern parts of Paraguay afflicted 

by conflict, partner organizations took 

the initiative to strengthen the right of 

vulnerable individuals and groups to 

 security through legal aid and training. 

The vulnerable groups’ own strategies 

and methods to protect themselves 

against abuse were also reinforced 

through the formation of alliances and 

networks.

Results 2016

Legal training

Peace agreement a 
historic success 

Protection in armed 
conflict

13 projects

Women peace and 
security

3 projects

Peacebuilding

9 projects

Policy coherence for 
peace

2 projects

GLOBAL OBJECTIVES
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Armed conflicts, political tumult and natural 
disasters create humanitarian crises. In global 
terms, more than 130 million people are in need 
of humanitarian assistance but the need is much 
greater than the existing resources. Complex  crises 
cause great suffering and force people to flee. 
Climate change is driving the increasing trend 
of weather related disasters, such as flooding and 
severe droughts. Diakonia works together with 

local organizations to respond to humanitarian 
crises and reduce vulnerability to disasters. We 
strive to facilitate the transition from humanitarian 
assistance to long-term development by support-
ing early recovery and initiatives that aim to boost 
resilience in the long term. In a humanitarian 
crisis, Diakonia strives to uphold International 
Humanitarian Law and humanitarian principles.

Emergency response and 
disaster resilience

Somalia has been struck by severe drought and famine. Diakonia has conducted long-term development cooperation work in the country 
for many years. During the crisis, Diakonia and the partner organizations have been carrying out emergency response initiatives, such as 
distributing water and food. Photography: Finn Church Aid/Ville Palonen.
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In Burkina Faso more than 90 per cent of the 
population are dependent on agriculture and 
 livestock for their livelihoods, making them 
particularly vulnerable to the effects of cli-
mate change. In Oudalan Province, Diakonia’s 
 partner organization works to encourage resil-
ience and reduce vulnerability in communities 
that are repeatedly afflicted by flooding and 
drought.  Climate-smart agricultural techniques 
have increased food security among the affected 
households. As a result of advocacy work, local 
authorities have committed to improving disaster 
preparedness. The project has seen women get 
involved in village committees, with the task of 
monitoring and providing information on risks in 
the local area. In 2016, these committees played a 
key role in spreading information on flooding that 
threatened 800 people. This action led to rapid 
assistance and nobody was injured.

Preventing disasters 

Lebanon
Legal and psychosocial support to 1,900 refugees of 
Palestinian origin in Lebanon, focusing on women. 
Partner organization: Najdeh. 
Project length: 17 months. Support: MSEK 2. 
Sector: protection. 

Lebanon
Psychosocial, health and legal support and education 
for 1,500 people in Lebanon, focusing on women/girls 
subjected to gender-based violence.
Partner organization: ABAAD. 
Project length: 17 months. Support: MSEK 2.1. 
Sector: protection.

Myanmar/Burma
Emergency humanitarian assistance to 8,700 people 
in Myanmar/Burma forced to leave their homes due to 
flooding and landslides. 
Partner organization: MBC. Project length: nine 
months. Support: MSEK 1.7. Sector: food, shelter.   

Myanmar/Burma
Strengthen humanitarian capacity and resilience 
among 6,991 people in Myanmar/Burma regularly 
affected by climate-related crises. 
Partner organization: KBC. Project length: 6 months. 
Support: MSEK 1.3. Sector: disaster preparedness.  

Burkina Faso
Increase resilience among 2,445 people in various 
areas in Burkina Faso that are regularly exposed to 
climate-related crises such as drought. 
Partner organization: ATAD. Project length: 18 months. 
Support: MSEK 2.2. Sector: disaster preparedness.

Somalia
Emergency humanitarian assistance to 4,500  internally 
displaced persons in the Al Amin refugee camp in 
Somalia. 
Partner organization: KAD. Project length: 2.5 months. 
Support: SEK 900,000. Sector: food, water.  

Myanmar/Burma
Humanitarian assistance and reconstruction support 
for 8,600 people in areas afflicted by floods in Myan-
mar/Burma. 
Partner organization: KBC. Project length: four months. 
Support: SEK 400,000. Sector: water, sanitation, 
 reconstruction.

Thailand
Humanitarian assistance for 100,000 Burmese refugees 
in nine refugee camps in Thailand by the Myanmar/
Burma border. 
Project length: 12 months. Support: MSEK 10. 
Sector: food, nutrition, shelter. 

GLOBAL OBJECTIVESEMERGENCY RESPONSE AND 
DISASTER RESILIENCE

Emergency response and 
disaster resilience
Diakonia’s operational expenses totalled 
SEK 416 million, of which 6 % was used for this 
thematic area.

Resilience against disasters is clearly linked to social 
and economic justice, with disaster risk reduction and 
 adaptation to climate change being integral components in 
several projects

Preparedness, relief 
and recovery

6 projects

Disaster risk 
management

2 projects
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In early 2017, the UN Secretary General stated that 
women’s rights are under attack across the globe. 
Looking back at the past year, it is clear that this 
no exaggeration. 

In the months before this statement, a few of 
the global super powers sent clear messages about 
where they stand on gender equality – Russia 
decriminalised domestic violence as long as it does 
not cause substantial bodily harm or include rape, 
and the US cut off international aid to organisa-
tions that provide (or even offer information about) 
abortion and other family planning services.    

In many countries the gap between women 
and men is slowly closing in the areas of health 
and education, but when it comes to economic 

life women are at only 59 per cent of men’s 
 participation and opportunity. The situation in 
the area of political participation and influence is 
even worse and in 2016, the average percentage of 
women in  parliaments was a mere 23 per cent. This 
has massive impact, as it means women are largely 
excluded from the spaces that shape our societies, 
our  conditions of life and to a certain degree our 
worldview.  

Militarisation is increasing across the world, and 
this has negative implications for gender roles and 
women’s rights. When peace is finally negotiated 
women are often excluded, and 2016 saw the failure 
to include women’s voices in the negotiations about 
the end to the war in Syria. 

Gender equality 
around the world 
In spite of backlashes for gender equality, the struggle goes forward

In Sri Lanka, violence against women is incredibly common, while women are underrepresented in politics. The women in the 
picture decided to raise their voices instead of depending on help from external sources. They are now part of a nationwide 
organization that demands that at least half of the members of popularly elected assemblies are women, and which campaigns 
against gender-based violence. Photo: Diakonia.
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Wave of nationalism
The past year saw attacks on sexual and repro-
ductive rights both at the global level and in many 
countries. In Central America, women have been 
sentenced to 40 years in prison for having had an 
abortion – or for not being able to prove that the 
miscarriage they had was not in fact self-induced. 

A wave of nationalism, racism and xenophobia 
continues to sweep across the global North. It 
comes with conservative views on gender roles and 
women’s rights, and also with protectionism and 
scarce interest in global issues. This in turn has an 
impact on gender equality in the global South, as 
international aid and development cooperation on 
gender issues is decimated.  

Violence is used to silence women
The statistics on gender-based violence have not 
changed. 1 in 3 women will experience physical or 
sexual violence in their lives. Most such violence 
takes place in the home and is carried out by an 
intimate partner. However, gender-based violence 
also takes place in public. And for women and 
LGBTI persons who are activists, gender-based 
violence is one of the many ways in which they 
are systematically undermined and silenced. They 
are threatened online and face to face, defamed, 

intimidated, physically abused, made to disappear, 
and even murdered. Sometimes their freedom of 
movement is restricted not just by fear, but – as 
we saw in several cases in the Middle East in 2016 
– because the State puts them under a travel ban. 
Civil society organisations have documented many 
cases of women (some of them trans women) who 
were murdered because of their political activism 
in 2016, but no one knows for sure how many more 
cases there were. 

Harassment and persecution of women activists 
does not just impact on their own lives. Often, 
these activists and their organisations are the only 
ones fighting for gender equality in the societies 
where they live. So if they cannot carry out their 
work, ultimately what we risk ending up with are 
even more unequal societies. 

Struggle around the world 
But in this darkness, there is hope. Years of 
research have shown that strong feminist 
 movements are the most decisive factor in making 
a society gender equal, and the victories that were 
won for gender equality in 2016 were thanks to 
these movements and the people who stood with 
them.  

In Latin America and the Middle East, young 
women used digital tools to map sexual harass-
ment and get it on the radar of the general public. 
In Poland, women and men used media and took 
to the streets to stop a total ban on abortion. In 
Myanmar and Colombia, the movements fought 
to make sure that women’s voices are heard on the 
fragile path towards real peace. Guatemala saw a 
historic ruling in the first successful prosecution 
for sexual violence committed during the country’s 
military dictatorship – taking an important step 
towards ending impunity for sexual violence in 
conflict. In several countries in Asia, women pro-
tested against unfair and exploitative trade agree-
ments. Across Africa, the fight to make women’s 
voices heard in politics continued. 

In spite of everything the women and men who 
work for gender equality keep challenging the sta-
tus quo, holding power to account, and envisioning 
a different future. Diakonia’s commitment to keep 
supporting these movements is as strong as always.  

As the world turns to Agenda 2030 and the 
Sustainable Development Goals, not only are 
more actors seeing the importance of focusing on 
the gender equality goal. It is also becoming an 
accepted fact that whether we make or break the 
SDGs as a whole, will depend on whether we are 
able to build gender equal societies.  
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For many years, Diakonia has worked on problems 
regarding global tax evasion and how to prevent it, 
but the issue has never received as much attention 
in Sweden as it did in 2016. The issue exploded in 
connection with the leak of the Panama Papers. 

The media revealed that major banks, international 
and Swedish, had helped individuals and compa-
nies to avoid paying taxes by setting up offshore 
companies in tax havens. Suddenly, tax evasion 
became extremely relevant, not only in Diakonia’s 
countries of operation but also in Sweden. People 
were outraged that Swedish banks were involved in 
this kind of set-up. Diakonia was accommodated in 
the debate and was able to point out that each year, 
more money disappears from developing countries 
through tax evasion than the countries receive in 
development aid.  This is money that can save lives 
and contribute to long-term development if used 
correctly. 
Thanks to its expertise, Diakonia was able to show 
that people living in poverty are those hardest hit 
by tax evasion. Issues that Diakonia has long talked 
about, such as the importance of transparency and 
control, now proved to be more important than 
ever. Diakonia’s perseverance on this issue meant 
that we were able to contribute our knowledge 
when it was needed. The attention also resulted in 
Diakonia being invited to talk about tax evasion 
from a poverty perspective for the Committee on 
Taxation and Committee on Foreign Affairs of the 
Riksdag (Swedish Parliament). 

2016 was the year when Diakonia focused on the 
refugee issue in its work with congregations. 
The congregations welcomed this choice of focus, 
as they were already engaged in refugee reception 
and were therefore interested in linking to the 
causes of why people flee. The idea was to share 
knowledge, feelings and stories about how the 
world is interconnected, and for the statistics in 
the news to be transformed into people of flesh 
and blood. The natural forum for this was the 
congregations, where we were able to educate 
people as to  why people needed to flee and how 
this is connected with everything that Diakonia 
works with – from human rights and climate to 
emergency response and disaster prevention work. 
The topic was very well received – there is great 
interest within and outside of Diakonia in learning 
more about these issues. This commitment is now 
being channelled in the advocacy campaign Täpp 

till kryphålet (Fill the loophole), which concerns 
changing Swedish arms export legislation, an issue 
that is inextricably linked with why people flee.

Our activities in Sweden

Attracted much attention in the debate

Focus on the refugee issue

Majida Jaber and her son Omar have fled the war in Syria. Through 
Diakonia’s partner organization in Lebanon, they are provided with 
help and support.
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Poor finances and vulnerability increase the risk 
of forced marriage and domestic violence. These 
problems have accelerated in Lebanon, especially 
among those forced to flee from Syria. Diakonia’s 
partner organization supports both Lebanese and 
Syrian women and informs them of their rights. 
Yasmine is 19 years old and married.
Here, she is taking part in a meeting where 
she is learning more about child marriage and 
 gender-based violence. Photo: Diakonia
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Diakonia works using a rights-based approach with around 400 locally rooted movements, 
faith communities and organizations in more than 30 countries around the world. Our partner 
 organizations work with human rights, democracy, gender equality, social and economic justice, 
conflict and justice, and emergency response and disaster resilience. Here is a list of the countries 
and partner organizations that received financial support from Diakonia in 2016.

Partner organizations

1

2

3

14

5

7

8 9

6

 

10

12

13

15

16

17

18

19
20

2122

23

24

11

4

Country Office

Regional and Country 
Offices

Head Office

Programme countries 2016

Bangladesh (1) Number of partners: 10
Association of Development for Economic & Social Help, 
Bolipara Nari Kalyan Somity, Manab Kallyan Parished, 
Organization for Womens Development in Bangladesh, 
Social Association for Rural Advancement, Bangladesh 
Resource Centre for Indigenous Knowledge, Bangladesh 
Legal Aid And Services Trust, Safety and Rights Society, 
Unite Theatre for Social Action, Udayankur Seba Sangstha

Bolivia (2) Number of partners: 9
Centro de Estudios Juridicos e Investigacion Social, 
Centro de investigacion y promocion del campesinado, 
Asociacion Colectivo Rebeldia, Organizacion Indigena 
Chiquitana, Union Nacional de Instituciones para el 
Trabajo de Accion Social, Coordinadora de la Mujer, 
Centro de promocion de la mujer Gregoria Apaza, 

Confederacion Nacional de Mujeres Indigenas de Bolivia, 
Asociacion Civil de Desarrollo Social y Promocion Cultural 
Libertad 

Burkina Faso (3) Number of partners: 49
Cadre Unitaire D’Actions de Karangasso-Vigué, 
Association pour la Gestion de l’Environnement 
et le Développement, Centre d’information et de 
 documentation citoyennes, Association pour la Promotion 
et le Développement du Gulmu, Union des Religieux 
et Coutumiers du Burkina, SECRETARIAT EXECUTIF 
DIOCESAIN DE BANFORA, Direction Regionale de 
 l’Action Sociale Boucle du Mouhoun, Alliance Technique 
 d’Assistance au Développement, ASSEMBLEE NATIONALE, 
Association Koom pour l’Auto Promotion des Femmes 
du Burkina Faso, Institut de Recherche en Sciences de la 
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Santé, SECRETARIAT PERMANENT DU CONSEIL NATIONAL 
POUR LA PROMOTION DU GENRE, Plate-forme d’Actions 
à la Sécurisation des Ménages Pastoraux, Programme 
de Marketing Social et de Communication pour la 
Santé, Association Tout pour Tous Yennenga, Secrétariat 
permanent du Conseil national de lutte contre la pra-
tique de l’excision, Association Tin Tua, LABORATOIRE 
CITOYENNETE 2, Mouvement Burkinabè des Droits de 
l’Homme et des Peuples, Centre National de Presse 
Norbert Zongo, Commission Justice et Paix - Burkina, 
Association pour la Promotion des Oeuvres Sociales, 
Cadre de concertation des ONG actives en Education 
de Base, Association des Femmes Juristes du Burkina 
Faso, Association SEMFILMS, Centre pour la Gouvernance 
Démocratique, ASSOCIATION FEMME ET VIE, INITIATIVE 
PRIVEE ET COMMUNAUTAIRE CONTRE VIH/SIDA AU 
BURKINA FASO, Eau Vive Délégation pour le Burkina Faso 
et le Togo, Ecole Notre Dame de l’Espérance, Forum for 
African Women Educationalist, Réseau Afrique Jeunesses, 
Centre de Recherche et d’Intervention en Genre et 
Développement, Centre de Suivi et d’Analyse Citoyens 
des Politiques Publiques, Fondation pour l’étude et la 
promotion des droits humains en Afrique, Association 
des Femmes PAG-LA-YIRI, Balai Citoyen, Federation du 
CARTEL, Fondation pour l’Etude et la Promotion des 
Droits Humains en Afrique, Union Nationale de l’Audio-
visuel Libre du Faso, Association d’Appui et d’ Eveil 
Pugsada, Association Monde Rural, Mouvement Burkinabe 
pour le Développement et le Civisme, Groupe d’Etude 
et de Recherche sur la Democratie et le Developpement 
Economique, Reseau National de Lutte Anti-Corruption, 
TON, Consortium Centre pour l’Ethique Judiciaire et l’Un-
ion des Jeunes Avocats du Burkina, Réseau d’Action pour 
la Prévention et la Protection des Enfants en Difficultés, 
Deutsche Stiftung Weltbevoelkerung, OneWorld UK 

Cambodia (4) Number of partners: 19
The NGO Forum on Cambodia, Cambodian Center 
for Independence Media, Banteay Srei, Gender and 
Development for Cambodia, Building Community 
Voices, Community Legal Education Center, Coalition for 
Cambodian Farmer Community, Cambodian League for 
the Promotion and Defense of Human Rights, Sahmakum 
Teang Tnaut, Cambodia Human Rights and Development 
Association, Equitable Cambodia, Cambodia Food and 
Service Workers’ Federation, Cambodian Center for 
Human Rights, Cooperation Committee for Cambodia, 
Committee for Free and Fair Elections in Cambodia, 
AMARA, Women’s Resource Center, Cambodia Indigenous 
People Organisation, Center for Alliance of Labor and 
Human Rights

Colombia (5) Number of partners: 24
Asociación Movimiento Feminista por la Paz Ruta Pacífica 
de las Mujeres, Women’s link worldwide, Asociación 
lideres en acción, Amigos de la Tierra America Latina 
y el Caribe, Centro de Estudios de Derecho, Justicia 
y Sociedad, ASOCIACION CENTRO NACIONAL SALUD 
AMBIENTE Y TRABAJO, Corporación Humanas, Fundación 
Mujer y Futuro, Asociacion para la promocion social 
alternativa MINGA, Oficina Internacional de Derechos 
Humanos-Accion Colombia, Consejo Comunitario 
Mayor de la Asociación Campesina Integral del Atrato, 
Fundación Centro de Investigación y Educación Popular, 
Corporación de Mujeres Ecofeministas Comunitar, 
Consejo Regional Indígena del Cauca, Fundación Estrella 
Orográfica del Macizo Colombiano, Fundación Comité de 
Solidaridad con los Presos Políticos, Asociación Cristiana 
Menonita para la Justicia, la Paz y la Acción Noviolenta, 
Corporación Desarrollo y Paz del Magdalena Medio, 
Corporación Sisma Mujer, Red Departamental de Mujeres 
Chocoanas, Colombia Diversa, Fondo de Fortalecimiento 
y Protección, Centro de Estudios para la Justicia Social 
Tierra Digna

Cuba (6) Number of partners: 8
Centro Cristiano de Reflexión y Diálogo, Centro Memorial 
Martin Luther King, Consejo de Iglesias Cuba, Centro de 
reflexión y solidaridad Oscar Arnulfo Romero, Centro 
Cristiano de Servicio Social y Capacitación Bartolomé 
Gregorio Lavastida, Movimiento Estudiantil Cristiano, 

Servicio de Noticias de la Mujer de Latinoamerica y el 
Caribe, Centro Felix Varela

Democratic Republic of Congo (7) 
Number of partners: 11
Conseil Régional des Organisations non gouvernemen-
tales de Développement du Bas-Congo, EURAC NETWORK, 
Cercle de Réflexion et d’Appui pour le Développement 
Durable des Initiatives à la Base, Comité National Femme 
et Développement, Caritas Congo Asbl, Cadre de concer-
tation nationale de la société civile RDC, Centre National 
d’Appui au Développement et à la Participation Populaire, 
Nouvelle société civile congolaise, Organisation 
Congolaise des Ecologistes et Amis de la Nature, Femmes 
des Medias pour la Justice au Congo, Centre d’étude sur 
la Justice et la Résolution 1325

Guatemala (8) Number of partners: 15
Bufete Jurídico de Derechos Humanos, Asociación 
Consejo de Unidad Campesina de Guatemala CUC-G, 
Asociación de Mujeres Q’eqchies Nuevo Horizonte, 
Asociación por Nosotras Ixmukané, Red Departamental 
de Mujeres Sololatecas con Visión Integral, Asociación 
Grupo Integral de Mujeres Sanjuaneras AGIMS, Asociación 
Red Guatemalteca Mujeres Positivas en Acción, 
Asociación Civil Juventud K’iche’, Centro para la Acción 
Legal en Derechos Humanos, Instancia de Consenso del 
Pueblo Maya Q’eqchi’-Poqomchi’ de Alta Verapaz, K’amol 
B’e, Asociación La Alianza, Fundación para el Desarrollo y 
Fortalecimiento de las organizaciones de Base, Equipo de 
Estudios Comunitarios y Acción Psicosocial, Asociacion 
de Mujeres Aqabal, Centro de Estudios y Documentación 
de la Frontera Occidental de Guatemala

Honduras (9) Number of partners: 13
Fundacion para la Salvaguardia del Medio Ambiente 
en el Democratico Desarrollo Socioeconomico y de las 
Instituciones, Asociacion Colectivo Violeta, Asociacion 
Comite por la Libre Expresion, ASONOG, Centro de 
Estudios de la Mujer - Honduras, Organismo Cristiano 
de Desarrollo Integral de Honduras, Movimiento de 
Mujeres por la Paz Visitacion Padilla, Comisión de Acción 
Social Menonita, Comite de Familiares de Detenidos 
Desaparecidos en Honduras, Fundacion San Alonso 
Rodriguez, Fundacion Equipo de Reflexion Investigacion 
y Comunicacion de la Compania de Jesus, Centro de 
Derechos de Mujeres, Foro ACT Honduras/HEKS

Kenya (10) Number of partners: 23
International Budget Partnership, Christian Impact 
Mission, Kenya Human Rights Commission, ACK 
Nakuru Region InterDiocesan Christian Community 
Services, Poverty Eradication Network, Katiba Institute, 
International Center for Policy and Conflict, Independent 
Medico Legal Unit, Inter-Religious Council of Kenya, 
Transparency International Kenya, Uraia Trust, Legal 
Resources Foundation, Catholic Diocese of Kitui- 
Caritas Kitui, Inuka Kenya Ni Sisi Limited, Grassroots 
Organization Operating Together in Sisterhood Kenya 
Association, Kenya conference of catholic bishops, 
National Council of Churches of Kenya, Anglican 
Development Services - Nyanza, Federation of Women 
Lawyers - Kenya, Pan African Climate Justice Alliance, 
Reality of Aid Africa Network, Society for International 
Development, Tax Justice Network - Africa

Lebanon (11) Number of partners: 13
Arab NGO Network for Development, Lebanese Physical 
Handicapped Union, Arcenciel, Dar Al Amal, Lebanese 
Women Democratic Gathering, Community Based 
Rehabilitation Association, Association Najdeh, Lebanese 
Observatory for Rights of Workers and Employees, 
Developmental Action without Borders, Lebanese 
Association for Democratic Elections, ABAAD-Resource 
Center for Gender Equality, Lebanon Support, Lebanon 
Eco Movement

Mali (12) Number of partners: 17
Comité d’Appui au Developpement de la jeunesse, 
Observatoire des Droits Humains et de la Paix-ODHP, 
Association pour la Formation et le developpement GLD 
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III 2014-2017, Association Malienne pour la Survie au 
Sahel GLD 2014-2017, Action pour le Developpement 
Integré, Coalition pour l’Annulation de la Dette au 
GLD III 2014-2017, Yam-Giribolo-Tumo GLDIII 2014-
2017, Coalition des Alternatives Africaines Dette et 
Developpement Mali, Reso Clima, Oui pour une Enfance 
Noble au Mali, Women in Law and Development in 
Africa Mali, Reseau Plaidoyer Lobbying, Yam-Giribolo-
Tumo, Service de Developpement Integré, Association 
de Formation et d’Appui au Developpement, Association 
d’Appui au Developpement Communautaire, Association 
Malienne pour la Promotion au Sahel

Mozambique (13) Number of partners: 23
The Lutheran World Federation – MOZ, Instituto Fanelo 
Ya Mina, Associacao de Jovens da SOALPO, ARISO 
– Associacao para Reabilitacao e Integracao Social, 
Associacao Mocambicana para o Desenvolvimento 
Concertado, Associacao de Cegos e Ambliopes de 
Mocambique, Associacao Amigos da Crianca Boa 
Esperanca, Associacao Mulher Lei e Desenvolvimento, 
Rede da Crianca, Liga dos Direitos Humanos, Associacao 
Parlamento Juvenil, Centro de Estudo de Democracia 
e Desenvolvimento, Associacao Mocambicana das 
Mulheres de Carreira Juridica, Rede Contra Abuso de 
Menores, Observatório Eleitoral, Associacao para o 
Desenvolvimento das Mulheres de Morrua, Associacao 
das Mulheres Domesticas da Zambezia, Centro de 
Aprendizagem e Capacitação da Sociedade Civil, 
Associação Progresso, Nucleo de Amigos da Natureza 
e do Ambiente, ASSOCIACAO JUVENIL OTHOKO, 
Solidariedade Zambézia, Forum das Rádios Comunitarias 
de Moçambique

Myanmar/Burma (14) Number of partners: 12
Human Rights Education Institute of Burma/Colors 
Rainbow, Thingaha Gender Organization, Kalyana Mitta 
Foundation, Myanmar Baptist Convention, Charity 
Oriented Myanmar, World Concern Myanmar, Myanmar 
Council of Churches, NGO Gender Group, Equality 
Myanmar (EQMM)/ Formerly Human Rights Education 
Institute of Burma, Knowledge and Dedication for Nation 
Building/Karen Development Network, Karen Baptist 
Convention, Women’s Organizations Network

Nicaragua (15) Number of partners: 13
Instituto de Liderazgo de las Segovias, Asociacion de 
Mujeres Indigenas Costa Atlantica AMICA, Centro de 
Prevencion de la Violencia, Centro Nicaraguense de 
Derechos Humanos, Accion Médica Cristiana, Instituto 
para el Desarrollo y la Democracia, Centro Alexander Von 
Humboldt, Centro de Derechos Humanos, Ciudadanos y 
Autonomicos, Centro por la Justicia y Derechos Humanos 
de la Costa Atlántica de Nicaragua (CEJUDHCAN), 
Centro de Informacion y Servicios de Asesoria en Salud, 

Coordinadora Pueblos Indígenas Chorotegas, Comision 
Interagencial de Género

Palestine and Israel (16) 
Number of partners: 33
Gisha - Legal Centre for freedom of movement, Project 
Loving Care Society/Mother Establishment of the 
Saraya Center for Community Service, Al-Nayzak for 
Supportive Education and Scientific Innovation R.A., 
Sabeel Ecumenical Liberation Theology Center, Physicians 
for Human Rights Israel, Yes Theatre for Communication 
among Youth, Alternative Information Center, The Edward 
Said National Conservatory of Music, BADIL Resource 
Center for Palestinian Residency and Refugee Rights, 
Al Mezan Centre For Human Rights, General Union of 
Palestinians with disabilities, Jenin branch, Baseera Forum 
for Blind, Future Society for Deaf Adults, Palestinian 
Medical Relief Society, Farah Center, Women’s Affairs 
Technical Committee, Tamer Institute for Community 
Education, Palestinian Counseling Center, Basma Society 
for Culture and Arts, Bethlehem Arab Society for 
Rehabilitation, Palestine Red Crescent Society, National 
Society for Rehabilitation, Deir Al Balah Rehabilitation 
Society, Palestine Medical Relief Society, CBR Nablus, 
Voices society for the rights of persons with intellectual 
disability, General Union of Palestinians with disability, 
Bethlehem branch, Palestinian Consultative Staff for 
Developing NGOs, Al Salam Sports Club for persons 
with disabilities, The Jerusalem Princess Basma Center 
for disabled children, Society of St Yves, Catholic Center 
for Human Rights, Community Based Rehabilitation 
Association (CBR central West bank)

Paraguay (17) Number of partners: 11
Organización de Mujeres Campesinas e Indígenas, 
Coordinadora de Líderes Indígenas del Bajo Chaco, 
Instituto de Estudios Comparados en Ciencias Penales 
y Sociales, Asociación Nacional de Productores 
Agropecuarios, Base Investigaciones Sociales, Centro 
de Documentación y Estudios, Panambi Asociacion de 
Travestis, Transgeneros y Transexuales, Tierraviva a los 
Pueblos Indígenas del Chaco, Coordinadora de Derechos 
Humanos del Paraguay, Federación Nacional Campesina,
Servicio Paz y Justicia Paraguay

Peru (18) Number of partners: 18
Asociación Taller de Educación y Comunicación a través 
del Arte Arena y Esteras, GRUPO CULTURAL YUYACHKANI, 
Centro para el Desarrollo de los Pueblos Ayllu, Asociación 
Servicios Educativos Rurales, Comisión de Derechos 
Humanos de Ica, Centro de Desarrollo Andino Sisay, 
Asociación de Comunicadores Sociales, CALANDRIA, 
Centro de la Mujer Peruana, Flora Tristán, Coordinadora 
Nacional de Derechos Humanos, Comisión Episcopal de 
Acción Social, Instituto de Defensa Legal, Asociación Pro 
Derechos Humanos, COOPERACCION, Acción Solidaria 

The women are satisfied with the new project that supports 
small-scale agriculture, and they’re noticing that they’re able 
to take responsibility for their own situation. They’ve started 
to organize themselves and we’re seeing a change that really 
makes us proud and gives us hope for the future.”

Antoinette Vango, REFED, Democratic Republic of the Congo when asked, “When did you feel proud of working 
with Diakonia?”

“
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para el Desarrollo, Centro Peruano de Estudios Sociales, 
Asociación Para el Desarrollo Andino Amazónico - Huñuq 
Mayu, DEMUS Estudio para la Defensa de los Derechos 
de la Mujer, Movimiento Ciudadano frente al Cambio 
Climático, Comité de America Latina y el Caribe para la 
defensa de los derechos de las mujeres 

Somalia (19) Number of partners: 3
Kaalo Aid and Development Organization, Forum For 
African Women Educationalists- Somalia Chapter, Galkayo 
Education Center for Peace and Development

Sri Lanka (20) Number of partners: 13
Womens Development Centre, Suriya Women’s 
Development Centre, Sri Lanka Centre for Development 
Facilitation, Peoples Action for Free and Fair Elections, 
Plantation Rural Education and Development 
Organization, Samadana/m, Transparency International 
Sri Lanka, Law and Society Trust, VILUTHU - Centre 
for Human Resource Development, Eastern Human 
and Economic Development, Centre for Environmental 
Justice, Eco Friendly Volunteers (ECO V), Muslim Women’s 
Research & Action Forum

Thailand (21) Number of partners: 13
Center for Girls, The Border Consortium, Development 
Center for Children and Community Network, Thailand Lahu 
Development Foundation, Inter Mountain Peoples Education 
and Culture in Thailand Association, The Foundation of the 
Church of Christ in Thailand, Upland Holistic Development 
Project, The Mirror Foundation, Micro Economic Development 
Foundation, MAP Foundation, Spirit in Education Movement, 
Karen Development and Service Foundation, Foundation of 
Child Understanding

Uganda (22) Number of partners: 22
African Youth Development Link, Teso Initiative for Peace, 
Forum for Women in Democracy, Action for Development, 
Church of Uganda - Planning, Devt. & Rehabilitation, 

Uganda Womens’ Network, Human Rights Network - 
Uganda, Uganda Joint Christian Council, Justice and Peace 
Commission, Gulu Archdiocese, Human Rights Focus,
Summit Foundation, ZOA Uganda, Civil Society Budget 
Advocacy Group Southern and Eastern African Trade, 
Information and Negotiations Institute - Uganda, Eastern 
African Sub-Regional Initiative for the Advancement 
of Women, Gulu Women’s Economic Development and 
Globalization, Centre for Policy Analysis Limited, Born 
Again Faith Federation (BAFFe)-Acholi Sub Region, 
Rights Evidence Action Limited, Chapter Four Uganda, 
The Cross-Cultural Foundation of Uganda

Zambia (23) Antal samarbetsorganisationer: 5
Jesuit Centre for Theological Reflection, Caritas Zambia, 
Foundation for Democratic Process, Extractive Industries 
Transparency Alliance, Youth Alliance for Development

Zimbabwe (24) Number of partners: 8
Heal Zimbabwe Trust, Youth Empowerment and 
Transformation Trust, African Network & Forum on Debt 
and Development, Musasa, Emthonjeni Womens Forum, 
Womens Institute for Leadership Development, Women in 
Politics Support Unit, Zimbabwe Womens Resource Centre 
and Network

Africa Regional Number of partners: 4
Third World Network, Africa, Economic Justice Network of 
FOCCISA, Gender Links, Bench Marks Foundation

Latin Amerika Regional
Number of partners: 7
Frida the young feminist fund, Red de salud de las 
mujeres latinoamericanas y del Caribe, Observatorio 
de Conflictos Mineros de America Latina, Centro por la 
Justicia y el Derecho Internacional, Corporacion Accion 
Ecologica, Red Latinoamericana de Mujeres Defensoras 
de los Derechos Sociales y Ambientales, Elige Red de 
Jóvenes por los Derechos Sexuales y Reproductivos, A.C.

During the course of last year, we launched a new youth group 
project. We joined forces in putting together a campaign to 
 disrupt violent cultural structures based on preconceived sexist 
ideas. It inspired a great deal of hope to see the willingness of 
young people to effect positive change in society.”
 

Guadalupe Pérez, Chairperson of Colectivo Rebeldía, Bolivia when asked, “Which event in 2016 instilled the most 

hope in you?”

“
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General information about operations
Diakonia is a Swedish faith-based  development 
organization, rooted in the two Christian 
 denominations the Swedish Alliance Mission and 
the Uniting Church in Sweden. Diakonia works 
to change unfair structures, convinced that the 
most important drivers behind social change are 
people being aware of their rights and organizing 
themselves to jointly claim these rights.  Diakonia 
thus supports courageous rights holders who stand 
in defiance of undignified life circumstances and 
social structures that give rise to poverty and 
marginalisation. Diakonia works with long-term 
development cooperation, emergency response 
and advocacy work. Our vision is a just, equal and 
sustainable world free from poverty,  oppression, 
inequality and violence. Diakonia works using a 
rights-based approach with around 400 locally 
rooted movements, faith communities and 
 organizations in more than 30 countries around 
the world. Diakonia is also a member of the ACT 

 Alliance, a coalition of churches and member 
organizations that work in 140 countries across the 
globe. Together we constitute a worldwide  network 
of people who strive for sustainable change for 
those living in poverty, under oppression and 
 violence. Our activities are funded by grants 
from Sida (Swedish International Development 
 Cooperation Agency), the EU, Världens Barn, 
the Swedish Postcode Lottery and other donors. 
Congregations and individual donors support 
Diakonia’s activities through donations. Diakonia 
carries out fundraising campaigns through various 
channels, such as fundraising letters and the Dela 
med magazine, and has a ‘90 account’ — a  special 
account approved and monitored by Swedish 
Fundraising Control.

Significant events during the year
2016 was the first year in which the new country 
and regional strategies were implemented and 
 followed up. The annual follow-up checks how 

Management report
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the operations have contributed to achieving 
Diakonia’s global objectives. It also provides key 
information for the work of the Board on overall 
strategic issues. Analysing Diakonia’s own role and 
 behaviour in a more structured way in relation to 
aid effectiveness has led to important lessons being 
learned, which has enabled the organization to 
develop. 

Over the past year, Diakonia has boosted its 
work in the thematic areas. This has included 
launching a global programme for social and 
 economic justice. The programme has focused on 
method and policy development,  collaboration 
and learning in a number of areas, including 
 reinforcing women’s economic empowerment and 
climate justice. 

A negative trend seen in several of the countries 
in which Diakonia has operations is the  “shrinking 
space” in which civil society organizations are 
able to act. Diakonia has been working on the 
issue, partly by boosting the capacity of partner 
 organizations, and partly through advocacy work 
in Sweden and Europe to improve the situation in 
the countries in question.

Diakonia carried out the educational campaign 
“Ingen människa ska behöva fly” (Nobody should 
have to flee) in Sweden in 2016 as a response to 
the global refugee situation. The campaign linked 
 Diakonia’s work in the world with our congrega-
tions’ commitment to refugees by educating people 
about the causes of the refugee crisis.

Working in partnership with strategic actors 
is becoming increasingly crucial in terms of 
 developing Diakonia’s operations. Examples of 
this are collaboration and networking with the 
Church of Sweden and in the ACT Alliance within 
the framework of humanitarian efforts and to 
exchange information and coordinate advocacy 
work in relation to the EU. Diakonia has also 
drawn up guidelines for clarifying its role and goals 
in the work with private actors. 

External factors affecting the 
 organization
2016 was distinguished by important international 
events, not least in the Global North, which 
 influenced politics in Sweden, Europe and  globally. 
A few examples that should be mentioned are 
the presidential election in the US, the spread of 
nationalism and populism in Europe, a weakened 
EU and the undermining of respect for democracy 
as a form of governance. 

Extreme poverty in the world is declining but 
is increasingly concentrated to weak states and 

 countries in which armed conflicts are in progress. 
In 2016, the number of armed conflicts in the 
world increased. This was reflected in the  number 
of refugees, and the migration issue came to the 
fore. The largest number of refugees is found in 
countries that already have a large proportion 
of people living in poverty and face the biggest 
 challenges in relation to the UN’s Sustainable 
Development Goals (the 2030 Agenda). The need 
for humanitarian assistance is greater than it has 
been since the Second World War. More than 
130 million people all over the world are in need of 
such assistance and resources are insufficient.

We are also seeing the space for civil  society 
continuing to shrink. Repressive legislation and 
digital surveillance are some of examples of how 
our partner organizations’ actions are being 
restricted. This was also the theme of  “The 2nd 
High Level Meeting on Development Effectiveness 
(HLM2)”, held in Nairobi, in which Diakonia took 
part. In several of the countries where Diakonia 
operates, we also see human rights defenders being 
persecuted and subjected to violence.

Despite important steps forward in recent years, 
we are now seeing a global backlash against both 
women’s and LGBTI people’s rights and gender 
equality. At the same time, this backlash has led to 
widespread mobilisation and engagement that will 
hopefully be channelled into greater support for 
women’s rights organizations. 

Two negotiations regarding the Paris  Climate 
Agreement were carried out in 2016. These 
 negotiations were crucial to implementing the 
agreement, and one of the high points was the 
decision to introduce a gender equality action plan. 
Sweden also appointed a new climate minister and 
climate ambassador in 2016, which strengthened 
the collaboration between the government and the 
networks in which Diakonia works on both these 
issues. 

Another encouraging event in 2016 was the 
peace agreement signed in Colombia between 
the FARC guerrilla and the state after 52 years of 
armed conflict. Colombia’s president Juan Manuel 
Santos received the Nobel Peace Prize for his work 
to achieve peace. The prize also pays homage to 
the people and the victims of the war. 

Operations and results
Diakonia’s operations are directed by a global 
 strategy and by regional and country strategies. The 
activities are carried out in country programmes 
that can have different financiers and consist of 
several projects. Diakonia enters into partner-
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ships with partner organizations and  collaborates 
with strategic actors for sustainable change. 
 Diakonia provides financial support and  supports 
the  organizations in their own development 
and  mobilisation of resources. The  partnership 
is also about acting as a dialogue  partner and 
 creating  synergies between partner  organizations. 
 Diakonia’s main themes are human rights, 
 democracy, gender equality, social and  economic 
justice, conflict and justice and  emergency response 
and disaster resilience. The aim of all operations 
is lasting change to the situation of poor and 
oppressed people, regardless of whether they 
 concern humanitarian assistance, advocacy work or 
long-term development work. In 2016, the activi-
ties of Diakonia and its partner organizations have 
resulted in the following, among other things:

In Africa, partner organizations in the regional 
programme for social and economic justice have 
played a key role in ensuring that African decision 
makers tackle the issue of illegitimate flows of 
money. Important progress was seen in areas such 
as accountability and in including a gender equality 
perspective in analyses and action plans. One part-
ner organization has also produced a publication 
on gender equality and illegitimate flows of money. 

The situation on the Atlantic coast of Nicara-
gua is another example where the conflicts have 
become worse in recent years, with several abuses 
of the rights of indigenous peoples while new set-
tlers force them off their lands. The Nicaraguan 
state made a report where they for the first time 
show that the inability to solve conflicts regarding 
land rights has had a direct influence on the living 
situation and rights of indigenous peoples. The 
work of partner organizations has contributed to 
this process.

Diakonia is also working for sustainable 
 development in Sweden. We do this through 
 information, lobby and advocacy work in relation 
to Swedish politicians and companies. For exam-
ple, Diakonia assisted the government with facts 
and information that boosted Sweden’s work on 
development effectiveness at global level. Diakonia 
also led the resistance towards Sweden making 
large deductions from the development aid budget 
to finance refugee reception in Sweden. 

For many years, Diakonia has been working 
to counteract tax evasion to prevent resources 
that could be used to fight poverty  disappearing 
into tax havens. Gender justice as a key goal 
of our work on climate was reinforced in 2016, 
and  Diakonia has contributed to people’s 
 understanding that climate justice is not only about 

justice between countries, but also about justice 
between men and woman and various groups. 

Diakonia reached a wide audience on social 
and other media with the aim of highlighting 
our global work, range and involvement. Other 
 examples of events that Diakonia participated in 
were Almedalen political week, Gothenburg Book 
Fair and the Churches’ Global Week. Diakonia 
activists managed to reach over 6,500 people. 

Performance and financial position

In 2016, Diakonia’s revenue decreased, totalling 
SEK 451 million. The decrease of around SEK 13 
million can be attributed to factors such as lower 
funding for operations in Asia (SEK –22 million) 
and in Africa (SEK –12 million). The decrease 
in funding has been compensated somewhat by 
greater fundraising revenue. 92 per cent of the 
 revenue for the year 2016 was used for  operations 
and totalled SEK 416 million.

Raised funds for 2016 totalled SEK 54.6 million, 
which was SEK 3.7 million more than budgeted 
and an increase of SEK 11 million over 2015. The 
increase stems from a larger contribution from 
Radiohjälpen (Swedish public service media’s 
 charitable foundation) of SEK 6 million, plus 
a donation of SEK 5 million from the Swedish 
Postcode Lottery. Diakonia is a beneficiary of 
the Swedish Postcode Lottery, whose vision is to 

  Funds  Fundraising 
  raised expenses 

Year TSEK

2016 54540 4193 8%

2015 43447 6041 14%

2014 36832 6298 17%

2013 37889 7318 19%

2012 33415 6924 21%

Annual accounts 2016

  Revenues Operational  
   expenses
  

 Year TSEK

2016  450585 416111 92%

2015  463331 440622 95%

2014  450571 422920 94%

2013  473366 438814  93%

2012  420999 386305  92%
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 contribute to a better world for people, animals 
and the environment. The surplus from lottery 
ticket sales goes to charitable causes. In 2016, the 
Postcode Lottery contributed SEK 20 million 
(SEK 15 million in 2015). 

Financial instruments and investment 
policy
Diakonia's securities portfolio is managed by 
 Nordea and is invested in funds that adhere 
to Diakonia's investment policy. This means 
that investment is made in low-risk financial 
 instruments, mainly in interest-bearing securities. 
The ethical criteria do not permit investment in 
activities that involve arms, pornography, violation 
of human rights, alcohol, tobacco or environmental 
destruction. In 2016, the criterion of not investing 
in fossil fuels has been added to the investment 
policy. Shares received as donations are sold imme-
diately.

Other non-financial information
Diakonia has a decentralised organizational struc-
ture. It has a total of 255 employees, the majority of 
them (207 people) being employed in the various 
countries in which Diakonia has a presence. This 
creates continuity and helps ensure effectiveness 
and a good understanding of the context in which 
Diakonia works with development cooperation. 
The conditions of local employees are regulated by 
Diakonia's internal guidelines and by local salary 
levels and legislation. 

In 2016, 42 people worked at Head Office in 
Stockholm and six people were posted abroad. 
Staff members at Head Office are covered by 
sector and salary agreements for non-profit and 
ideology-driven organizations, and staff posted 

abroad by general terms of employment for staff 
on  international missions. Diakonia has proce-
dures and tools for ensuring that a gender equality 
 perspective is applied when recruiting new staff.

Diakonia’s Board adopted a new environmental 
policy and follow-up plan during the year. The aim 
is to boost Diakonia’s environmental work, follow 
up on and reduce its environmental impact while 
helping to further development in environmental 
issues, including by supporting partners’ work 
with natural resources. Another area of priority 
has been to strengthen internal capacity regarding 
gender equality. A global working group has been 
formed and a five-year action plan drawn up. 

Since 2014, Diakonia has been certified by 
Humanitarian Accountability Partnership Inter-
national (HAP), known as HAP certification. 
The HAP standard is being replaced by the Core 
Humanitarian Standard (CHS), and Diakonia is 
now embarking on the process towards certifying 
its work to CHS.

Being innovative is becoming increasingly 
important for organizations that wish to secure 
their relevance in a rapidly changing world. 2016 
saw the introduction of the Design Thinking 
method to boost Diakonia’s innovative capacity. 
Design Thinking is based on the needs of the tar-
get group. Using creative methods and with the 
participation of the target group itself, new meth-
ods of solving problems are  tried out. The method 
is very much in line with Diakonia’s rights-based 
approach.

Future development
Rapid changes in the surrounding world and 
in particular in the development cooperation 
 context entail both challenges and opportunities 
for Diakonia. In light of this, Diakonia will be 

Total expenses per region 

   2016 2015  2014 

Middle East 50 963 12% 49 643 11% 45 750 10%

Asia 59 496 13% 81 911 17% 95 964 21%

Africa 183 435 41% 195 124 41% 173 740 38%

Latin America 95 534 21% 93 662 20% 90 662 20%

Sweden and globally 26 683 6% 20 182 4% 16 804 4%

Joint 32 681 7% 34 917 7% 33 913 7%

Total 448 792 100% 475 539 100% 456 833 100%
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 carrying out a review of its organization in order 
to analyse and ensure the effective and sustainable 
achievement of its goals also in the future. 

Diakonia sees challenges in the work on 
 systematic learning in a decentralised organization. 
A future initiative will thus be to further develop 
systematic learning and improve the spread and 
exchange of knowledge and experiences. This 
 initiative is a collaboration between five members 
of the ACT Alliance on an e-learning platform, 
and forms part of Diakonia’s objective to work 
more cost-efficiently. 

Increasing humanitarian needs in the world 
will continue to be a key priority for Diakonia. 
Diakonia will continue to reinforce its strategic 
role as a development organization that also  carries 
out humanitarian work. We will also continue to 
develop strategies to work on bridging the gap 
between humanitarian work and development work.

Diakonia is also advancing its work on inter-
national humanitarian law and a global IHL 
programme. Resource desks will be stationed 
in Lebanon and Mali in 2017. Furthermore, the 
opportunities for launching operations in Syria are 
being analysed. 

In 2017, a new Secretary General of Diakonia 
will be appointed when the current holder of the 
post retires. The current Secretary General Bo 
Forsberg has been of great significance to the 

development of the organization over the 23 years 
that he has held this position. New leadership will 
influence how Diakonia develops in the future. 

Management
Diakonia's Annual Meeting is the highest 
 governing body, taking decisions on its global 
policy, global strategy, strategic plan and overall 
budget for the coming year. The Annual Meeting 
also appoints Board members and the Secretary 
General, adopts the end-of-year accounts and 
decides on discharging the Board from liability. 
Delegates at the Annual Meeting are appointed by 
the principals. 

The Board is ultimately responsible for Diako-
nia’s activities. In 2016, the Board met on five 
occasions, with all Board members present at 
these meetings. During the year, Diakonia’s Board 
consisted of Pether Nordin (chairperson), Mari-
anne Claesson (vice chairperson), Oskar Permwall 
(member), Ann-Sofie Lasell (member), Christer 
Daelander (member), Göran Gunner (member) and 
Ingela Svedin (member).

The Secretary General is Diakonia's most senior 
executive and is accountable to the Board. The 
Secretary General represents Diakonia in various 
contexts and ensures that the organization follows 
the guidelines and decisions adopted. 

Diakonia's Head Office is in Stockholm. 
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Regional and country offices
Diakonia is a decentralised organization with 
local offices in 24 of the more than 30 countries 
where long-term development cooperation and 
emergency response are carried out. Four regional 
offices support the country offices with overall 
coordination and administration.

Africa 
Regional Office: Kenya. 
Country Offices: Burkina Faso, Democratic 
Republic of the Congo (DRC), Kenya, Mali, 
Moçambique, Somalia, Uganda, Zambia and 
 Zimbabwe.

Asia 
Regional Office: Thailand. 
Country Offices: Bangladesh, Cambodia, Myan-
mar/Burma, Sri Lanka and Thailand.

Latin America 
Regional Office: Colombia. 
Country Offices: Bolivia, Colombia, Guatemala, 
Honduras, Nicaragua, Paraguay and Peru.

Middle East
Regional Office: Palestine. 
Country Offices:  Lebanon and Palestine. 

Other information
Diakonia is a member of the Swedish Fundrais-
ing Council (FRII) and the global ACT Alliance 
network. It is also represented on several boards, 
including Concord Sverige, European network for 
Central Africa (EurAc), Swedwatch and Världens 
Barn. 

During the year, the Secretary General has 
served on the board of Radiohjälpen in his 
 personal capacity. Diakonia also participates in 
ACT EU’s working groups for advocacy work on 
climate, the Middle East and Central America. 
Diakonia is also member of various partnerships, 
including Fair Finance Guide Sweden, Swed-
watch, Swedish Forum for Human Rights, Swed-
ish  Ecumenical Accompaniment Programme in 
Palestine and Israel (SEAPPI), and ECCJ Sweden 
(European Coalition for Corporate Justice). 

Diakonia's digital channels in Sweden are www.
diakonia.se, facebook.com/diakonia.se, twitter.
com/diakoniasverige and instagram.com/diako-
nia_sweden. 

Diakonias Board of Directors 2016. From the left: 
Göran Gunner, Ingela Svedin, Ann-Sofie Lasell, 
Pether Nordin, Marianne Claesson, Christer Daelander, Oskar 
Permvall. Photo: Diakonia.

Asia
59 496 TSEK

Operational funds divided per region

Sweden and globally 
59 364 TSEK

Africa 
183 435 TSEK 

Middle East 
50 963 TSEK

Latin America 

95 534 TSEK



38   Annual accounts 2016

  Profit and loss statement          
 
     
 Note  2016 2015
Revenues of  the association  

Grants  406 306 424 014

Gifts  42 324 38 044 

Other revenues  1 955 1 273 
Total revenues of  the association 2, 3, 4  450 585 463 331

Costs for the association    

Operational costs for projects  –416 111 –440 622

Fundraising and marketing costs  –4 193 –6 041

Administration costs  –28 488 –28 876

Total costs for the association 2 –448 792 –475 539

Result of  operations  1 793 –12 208

Result from financial investments    

Result from securities and receivables accounted for as fixed assets 5 2 843 1 569

Other interest income and similar profit/loss items 6 101 82

Interest expense and similar profit/loss items 7 –1 656 –2 273

Total income from financial investments  1 288 –622

Net profit/loss for the year  3 081 –12 830

Variation of  earmarked funds 4  

Profit/loss for the year according to the profit and loss statement  3 081 –12 830

Utilisation of  earmarked funds  482 1 794

Utilisation of  Fund for operations and investment  –2 000 9 596

Other earmarked funds not utilised during the year  –1 346 –2 089

Remaining balance/profit/loss brought forward  217 –3 530

The totals may deviate from the subtotals due to round figures.
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  Balance sheet      
   As per 31 December      
       
 Note 2016 2015

Assets     

Fixed assets 

Intangible assets

Capitalised expenditure for software 8 950 4 964

Tangible assets 

Equipment 9 297 797

Financial assets

Investments held as fixed assets 10 114 758 110 419

Total fixed assets  116 006 116 181

Current assets

Current receivables   

Other receivables  3 964 2 028

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 12 5 901 5 050

Total current receivables  9 866 7 079

Cash and bank balances  112 948 45 099

Total current assets  122 814 52 178

Total assets  238 820 168 359

Equity and Liabilities

Equity  

Fund for operations and investment  9 673 7 673

Earmarked funds  2 477 1 613

Profit/loss brought forward  80 654 80 436

Total equity  92 803 89 722

Provisions  

Provisions for pensions and similar commitments 14 9 231 7 740

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable – trade  4 300 4 793

Liabilities to financiers 13 118 216 58 389

Other liabilities  1 894 2 472

Accrued expenses and deferred income 16 12 375 5 243

Total current liabilities  136 786 70 897

Total equity and liabilities  238 820 168 359

The totals may deviate from the subtotals due to round figures.

Annual accounts 2016
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 Cash flow statement    
     
       
  2016 2015

Operating activities 

Result of  operations  1 793 –12 208
Depreciation   4 532 5 511
Other items not included in cash flow  1 491 914
Interest received  101 82
Dividends received  1 043 1 371
Interest paid  –1 656 –2 273
Cash flow from operating activities before working capital changes  7 304 –6 603

Increase/decrease in other current receivables   –2 787 1 219
Increase/decrease in accounts payable    –492 –574
Increase/decrease in other current operating liabilities   66 382 2 619
Cash flow from operating activities    70 407 –3 339

Investing activities

Investments in intangible fixed assets   0 –1 640
Investments in tangible fixed assets  –18 –273
Investments in financial fixed assets  –4 339 –17 605
Disposals of  financial fixed assets  1 799 4 729

Cash flow from investing activities   –2 558 –14 789

Cash flow for the year  67 849 –18 129

Cash at beginning of  the year  45 099 63 228

Cash at the end of  the year  112 948 45 099

Annual accounts 2016

  Equity 
    

 Earmarked  Fund for Profit/loss Total equity  
 funds  operations brought forward 
  and investment

Opening profit/loss 1 613 7 673 80 436 89 722

Utilisation of  Fund for operations and investment  2 000  2 000

Utilisation of  Fund for operations and investment  1 346   1 346

Utilisation of  earmarked funds –482   –482

Remaining balance    217 217

Closing profit/loss 2 477 9 673 80 654 92 803

    
Scope and purpose of  Diakonia's equity    
The purpose of  Diakonia's equity is related to responsible management. If  there would be a possible need of  a liquidation of  
Diakonia's operations, the equity should cover fixed costs such as rents and contracts of  employment at head office, regional 
and country offices during one year. This year, the expenses for regional and country offices are about 93 MSEK, which is 
reported as operational costs, according to agreements with Sida. The expenses of  the Head Office amount to approximately 
28 MSEK, which is reported as administration costs. The main part of  these costs consists of  rents and staff. All Diakonia 
funds are aimed at its operations or the administration of  its operations. The level of  equity should be based on an evaluation 
of  probability. According to a decision taken by the Board of  Diakonia, the level of  equity should be about 25% of  the total 
annual turnover. In addition Diakonia has created a Fund for operations and investment. Possible surpluses from adminis-
tration contributions are offset to the fund. The purpose is to create liquidity for e. g. pre-funding of  EU-agreements, bridge 
funding of  country offices and IT-investments.     
  

Liquidity of  113 MSEK consists of  bank account holding and petty cash at Head Office (90 MSEK) 
and at Regional and Country Offices (23 MSEK)
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Diakonia’s accounting and valuation policies comply with 
the Swedish Annual Accounts Act, the Swedish Accounting 
Standards Board’s (BFN) rule BFNAR 2012:1 (K3) and 
FRII’s (the Swedish Fundraising Council) guidelines on 
annual reporting.

The principles remain unchanged compared to the 
 previous financial year.

Profit and loss statement

Programme service revenue
Only the inflow of  economic benefits that the organization 
has received or will receive on its own account is recognised 
as revenue. Unless otherwise indicated below, revenue is 
measured at the fair value of  what has been received or will 
be received.

Gifts and grants
Any transaction through which Diakonia receives an asset or 
a service that has a value and does not provide correspond-
ing value in return is a gift or a grant received. If  the asset 
or service is received because Diakonia has fulfilled or will 
fulfill certain conditions and if  Diakonia has an obligation to 
repay the counterparty if  the conditions are not fulfilled, it is 
considered a grant received. If  it is not a grant, it is a gift.

Gifts
Gifts are, as a main principle, recognised as revenue when 
received. A gift recognised as revenue is accounted for as 
an asset or a cost, depending on whether the gift is used 
directly or not. Other gifts are recognised as current assets. 
Gifts are, as a main principle, recognised at fair value.

Grants
Grants are recognised as revenue when the conditions for 
 receiving the grant have been fulfilled. Grants received are 
recognised as liabilities until the conditions for receiving the 
grant have been fulfilled. Grants received to cover certain 
costs (for example, for administration) are recognised in the 
same fiscal year as the cost the grant is intended to cover.

Programme service expenses
Programme service expenses are classified into the following 
 functions: mission, fundraising and administrative.

Mission expenses
Mission operational expenses consist of  those expenses that 
have a direct connection to fulfilling the purpose and/or 
articles of   association of  the organization. These expenses 
are divided into four categories:
– Programme service expenses at partners
– Expenses relating to opinion-shaping activities, e.g. the-

matic campaigns, in cases where opinion-shaping and 
awareness  activities are part of  the mission.

– Administration expenses with a direct bearing on devel-
opment cooperation are classified as programme service 
expenses. All expenses incurred by field offices are classi-
fied as programme service expenses.

– Knowledge and skills development within Diakonia. 
These are expenses with a bearing on the organization’s 
own  knowledge and skills development. Examples of  
such expenses are  exchanging experience and internal 
training.

Fundraising expenses
Fundraising expenses consist of  expenses relating to fund-
raising activities that are aimed at all Diakonia’s donors, that 

is, private  individuals, businesses and organizations. The 
item includes not only activities targeting existing donors 
but also the work of  seeking out new donors via campaigns, 
mailshots and maintenance of  donor registers. Fundraising 
expenses may therefore comprise  advertising, printed matter, 
fundraising material and personnel involved in  fundraising 
activities.

Administration expenses
Administration expenses consist of  those expenses that are 
 necessary to manage Diakonia. Administration is part of  
assuring good quality in the organization’s internal controls 
and reporting, both externally and in-house, to financing 
sources, donors, the Board and other stakeholders, etc. 
Administration expenses include those relating to the finan-
cial management function, administrative system, rents, 
equipment, annual audit, preparation of  the annual report, 
Annual Meeting, etc. Only expenses incurred at Head Office 
can be defined as administration expenses. 

Leasing
All the organization’s leases are accounted for as operating 
leases, that is, the leasing charge (including the first increased 
rent) is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the term 
of  the lease. Also fees for rent of  premises are in this 
respect leasing fees. 

Remuneration to employees
Ongoing remuneration to employees, in the form of  wages/
salaries, social welfare contributions, etc. is recognised as an 
expense as the employees perform their services. All pension 
commitments are defined-contribution and are recognised 
as an expense in the year in which the pension entitlement 
is earned.

Balance sheet
Assets, liabilities and provisions are measured at acquisition 
value, unless otherwise indicated below.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current 
assets are measured at acquisition cost less depreciation 
according to plan. The acquisition cost was reduced by grant 
finance relating to the acquisition of  a non-current asset. 
Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of  the particular asset. The following 
periods of  depreciation are applied:

Electronics (computers, etc.  3 years
Used cars  3 years
New cars  5 years
Modified software 3 years
Equipment (furniture, etc.) 5 years

Financial assets
Accounts receivable are measured individually at the amount 
that is expected to be received.

After the first accounting occasion, current asset invest-
ments are measured by application of  the lower of  cost or 
market rule, that is, at acquisition value or the net sale value, 
whichever is the lower.

After the first accounting occasion, non-current 
 financial assets that are not interest-bearing are measured 
at  acquisition value [less impairment]. Long-term fixed-in-
terest assets such as bonds are measured at accumulated 
acquisition value by application of  the effective interest rate 

Note 1            Accounting and valuation  policies
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Note 2  Summary of revenues and costs for projects in 2016
   
  

      
         
 Operation  Operation Administr- Non-project  Other funds Total Total
 with partners 1) within ation  fundraising  provided 2)  
  Diakonia 1)    
      
      
      2016 2015

Reserved funds for projects, 1 January 2016      27 151 19 977 
 
Raised funds for projects, 1 January 2016      1 613 1 317 
 
       
Public grants 250 122 121 711 22 257   394 090 418 611
Raised funds 14 179 16 734 2 875 20 752  54 540 43 447 
Other revenues     1 955 1 955 1 273 
Total revenues 2016 264 302 138 445 25 131 20 752 1 955 450 585 463 331

       
Middle East 29 954 21 008    50 963 49 643
Asia 46 312 13 184    59 496 81 911
Africa 133 442 49 993    183 435 195 224
Latin America 67 903 27 631    95 534 93 662
Globally 440 26 243    26 683 20 182
Common expenses   28 488 4 193  32 681 34 917
Total costs 2016 278 051 138 060 28 488 4 193  448 792 475 539

Results of  operations –13 749 385 –3 356 16 559 1 955 1 793 –12 208

Net utilisation of  earmarked funds      –864 –295

      17 653 27 151
Reserved funds for projects, 31 December 2016
      2 477 1 613
Raised funds for projects, 31 December 2016

1) See accounting principles     
2) Share of  Diakonia's Other revenues which has been provided to the project funds
        

Annual accounts 2016

rule [less impairment]. All assets held for risk diversification 
are considered to represent a securities portfolio and are 
therefore treated as one item at measurement by applica-
tion of  the lower of  cost or market rule or in testing for 
 impairment. Impairment of  a non-current asset is recog-
nised if  the market value is lower than the acquisition cost 
and the decline is deemed to be permanent. 

Receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
 measured at the rates on the balance sheet date.

At the time of  acquisition, financial assets are measured 
at  acquisition value plus direct transaction costs.

Mission funds
The heading Mission earmarked fund in equity includes gifts 
not yet spent and other Mission funds. See also the Equity 
section in the Notes to the financial statements.

Liabilities for received but not used grants
Received grants where the conditions are not jet fully 
 fulfilled will be reported as liability.

Provisions
A provision is reported when Diakonia has a legal or 
 informal undertaking resulting from events that have 
occurred and where Diakonia expects that payment will be 
demanded to settle the undertaking and a reliable estimate 
of  the amount can be made. Provisions are valued at the 
best  estimate of  the amount that will be paid.

Contingent liabilities
Diakonia provides information on a contingent liability 
when it has a possible liability as a result of  events not 
 outside Diakonia’s control taking place or not taking place, 
or if  Diakonia has an existing liability as a result of  events 
that occurred but that are not reported as liabilities or 
 provisions, as it is unlikely that an outflow of  resources will 
be required to settle the liability or the size of  the liability 
cannot be reliably estimated.
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Note 3 The revenues of the association
    

The revenues of  the association are specified as follows 2016 2015  
  
Raised funds  54 540 43 447 
Public grants  394 090 418 611 
Other revenues  1 955 1 273 
Total  450 585 463 331 
 

Gifts    
Gifts from direct debet donors  12 381 11 765
Gifts from private donors  6 066 6 722 
Gifts from congregations  703 976
Gifts from organizations and companies  643 401
Donations by investments in funds  1 630 1 710
Donations by legacies  977 1 453
Swedish Postcode Lottery  20 000 15 000 
Accrued project funds  –76 18 
Total  42 324 38 044

   
Private grants
The Children of  the World campaign  3 611 1 858
Other grants Swedish Radio Assistance  4 190 941 
Swedish Postcode Lottery  3 545 1 461 
Other private grants  1 046 1 976 
Accrued project funds   – 139 –797
Repaid grants  –37 –37
Total  12 216 5 402
Total raised funds  54 540 43 447  
   
      
Public grants are distributed as follows 
Sida CivSam 1&2)  157 567 155 947 
Sida Info 1&3)  4 500 4 500
Sida RegLA 1&4)  4 415 4 082 
Sida Hum 1&5)  14 000 32 904 
Sw. Emb. Middle East 6  7 000 7 000
Sw. Emb. Africa 6)  95 287 115 792
Sw. Emb. Asia 6)  12 940 14 960
Sw. Emb. Latin America 6)  25 640 22 100
Sida MENA & other items   
EU Middle East  3 852 4 486 
EU Asia  1 434 7 955
EU Africa  3 513 3 881 
EU Latin America  16 684 15 175
The Norwegian Association of  Disabled  3 867 4 491
Foreign Embassies  14 763 30 232
Other financiers  18 741 3 139
Allocated grants  9 713 –6 395
Repaid grants  176 –1 639 
Total  394 090 418 611  
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1) Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency 
2) The unit for civil society, CivSam, is part of  the Department for global cooperation
3) Information and communication work, is part of  the unit for civil society
4) The Latin America department, after reorganization the regional work in Latin America is found in the Department for conflict and post conflict cooperation
5) Humanitarian aid – subdivision under the Department of  conflict and post conflict cooperation
6) Sectors for Development Cooperation at Swedish Embassies 
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Note 4 Budget follow-up 
       
     
 Outcome Budget  Deviation
 2016 2016   
   
Revenues of  the association   

Public grants 384 202 401 774 –17 572
    Allocated project funds/Repaid grants 9 889  9 889
   Raised funds 54 791 51 000 3 791
    Allocated/Repaid gifts –252  –252
Other revenues 1 955 450 1 505

Total revenues of  the association 450 585 453 224 –2 639

Costs of  the association    
Operational costs for projects   –416 111 –420 464 4 353 
Fundrasing costs –4 193 –2 414 –1 779  
Administration costs –28 488 –29 647 1 159 

Total costs for the association –448 792 –452 525 3 733 
 
Results of  operations 1 793 699 1 094 

Results from financial investments 1 288  1 288 
    
 
Net profit/loss for the year 3 081 699 2 382 
 
 

    
Distribution of  net profit/loss for the year

Net profit/loss for the year according to the profit and loss statement  3 081 699 2 382 
Utilisation and reserve of  earmarked funds  –864  –864  
Utilisation of  Fund for operations and investment –2 000  –2 000

   
Remaining balance, profit/loss brought forward 217 699 –482 

During the year, approximately 350 individuals worked without compensation as representatives for Diakonia in Sweden. Moreover, many 
people have committed themselves to campaigns and similar events on behalf  of  Diakonia. The value of  all this work – free of  charge – is 
not accounted for in the profit and loss statement.

Note 5 Income from securities and receivables accounted for as fixed assets 
 

 2016 2015

Dividends 1 043 1 371
Profit/loss sale of  fixed assets 1 799 198
Return/write down fixed assets  
Total 2 843 1 569

Note 6 Other interest income and similar profit/loss items
 

 2016 2015
Bank interest 101 82
Total 101 82

Annual accounts 2016
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Note 7 Interest expenses and similar profit/loss items 

 2016 2015

Interest charges and interest on overdue payment –2 –3
Gains/losses of  currency transactions –1 654 –2 270
Total –1 656 –2 273

Note 8 Intangible fixed assets    

Capitalised expenditure of  software 2016 2015 
 
Opening acquisition value 18 076 16 437
Capitalised expenses for the year  1 640

Closing accumulated acquisition value  18 076 18 076
 
Opening depreciation –13 112 –8 407
Depreciation for the year –4 014 –4 705

Closing accumulated depreciation  –17 126 –13 112

Closing residual value according to plan 950 4 964 

Note 9 Tangible fixed assets 

Capitalised expenditure for equipment 2016 2015
   
Opening acquisition value 6 524 6 264
Translation difference   –1
Capitalised expenses for the year 18 274
Disposal for the year –430 –13
Closing accumulated acquisition value 6 112  6 524
     
 
Opening depreciation –5 727 –4 935
Translation difference  1  
Depreciation for the year –518 –806
Disposal for the year 430 13   
Closing accumulated depreciation –5 815 –5 727  
    
Closing residual value according to plan 297 797 

Note 10 Long-term investments held as fixed assets 

Holdings in mutual funds and similar investments
 2016 2016 2015 2015
 Booked value  Market value  Booked value Market value
    
  
Banco Humanfond 10 889 14 833 10 889 13 913
Swedbank Robur SICA 151 233 151 233
Aktieansvar Sverige 263 840 263 651
Handelsbanken Lux 98 113 98 113 
AktieAnsvar Europa 6 6 6 5
Penningmarknadsfonden 9 022 9 134 7 671 7 796
Nordea Kapitalfond 84 123 87 395 81 056 83 803
Nordea Institutionell Kortränta 10 207 10 213 10 139 10 126
Enskilda aktier   146 146

Total  114 759 122 767 110 419 116 787
   

Since the end of  2009 Diakonia has a contract with Nordea for the management of  Diakonia's funds. 

Annual accounts 2016
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Note 11 Leasing

 Leasing Leasing-
 fees fees 
 2016 2015 
Leasing contracts
Within 1 year 5 776 5 249
1-5 years 7 845 13 228
Later than 5 years  164
Total 13 622 18 642

Leasing fees 2016 amounted to 6 583 TSEK (6 876 TSEK)

Note 12 Prepaid expenses and accrued income

 2016 2015    
  
Prepaid rent 426 421
Accrued project revenues 4 691 3 507
Prepaid project expenses 240 479
Other items 545 643
Total 5 901 5 050

Note 13 Liabilities to financiers
    
 2016 2015    
  
Project balance 17 653 27 151
Liabilities to financiers 577 2 986
Deferred project income Sida 68 154 13 797
Deferred project income EU 8 472 2 610
Deferred project income Swedish Postcode Lottery 9 100 6 645
Deferred project income other 14 261 5 200
Total 118 216 58 389

Note 14 Provisions for pensions 
     
 2016 2015

Provisions outside the security agreement*  9 231 7 740
    
     
* Refers to pension commitments to local employees mainly in the Middle East

Note 15 Salaries, remuneration and social security contributions

 2016 2015 

Secretary General*  769 1 003
Employees in Sweden *  27 637 26 592
Employees with overseas agreements 2 552 3 085 
Employees with local agreements 54 195 51 373 
Total salaries and remuneration 85 153 82 053

* Salaries employees in Sweden 19,6 MSEK (18,8 MSEK)

Of  which social security contributions for employees in Sweden including pension.    
and employees with overseas agreements 5 989 5 767
Of  which pension costs 2 869 2 932
 
100 TSEK (168 TSEK ) of  the total amount of  pension costs refers to the Secretary General's pension.     
There is no agreement regarding severance pay with the Secretary General.       
 The members of  the board have not received salary or remuneration from Diakonia for their work.     

Annual accounts 2016
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Salaries and other remuneration distributed by region amount to

     
 2016 2015
 Employees with All employees  Employees with All employees
  Swedish contracts  at Diakonia Swedish contracts  at Diakonia 

 
Sweden 28 407 28 407 27 595 27 595 
The Middle East 0 14 730 379 13 668
Asia 605 5 906 221 5 931
Africa 1 244 22 055 1 668 21 979
Latin America 702 14 055 818 12 880
Total  30 958 85 153 30 680 82 083

  
Note 16 Accrued expenses and deferred income

 2016 2015    
 
Holiday pay 1 702 1 922
Accrued expenses, social security contribution 504 518
Special employer’s contribution 779 381
Other accrued expenses, personnel 1 127 819
Accrued project expenses 5 623 1 601
Other items 2 640 3
Total 12 375 5 243

Note 17 Average number of employees  
   
 2016 2015 
 Number of  full-time  Of  which men Number of  full-time  Of  which men
 employments  employments
 
Contract form

Employees in Sweden 42 28 % 42 28 % 
Employees with overseas agreements  6 49 % 7 55 %
Employees with local agreements  207 44 % 222 45 %
 
Total 255 42 % 272 43 % 
 

 2016 2015 
 Number of  full-time  Of  which men Number of  full-time  Of  which men
 employments  employments

Geographic location
 
Sweden 42 28 % 42 28 %
The Middle East 27 29 % 26 35 %
Asia  36 43 % 44 44 %
Africa 98 57 % 100 58 %
Latin America 52 31 % 59 31 % 
Total 255 42 % 272 43 %

Board members and senior management

 2016 2015 
 Number as per Of  which Number as per Of  which 
 2016–12–31 men 2015–12–31 men

Board members 7 57 % 7 57 %
Secretary General and senior mangement team 6  33 % 6 33 %

Annual accounts 2016
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Note 18 Estimates and judgements

Diakonia makes forward-looking estimates and judgements. As a result, the accounting appraisals that are based on such estimates and 
 judgements will, by their nature, rarely be reflected in actual outcomes.     

Note 19 Significant events after the end of the fiscal year

A global agreement has been signed with Sida to expand the IHL work into some additional countries in which Diakonia operates. 
The  agreement is for three years and work will initiate in Lebanon and Mali during 2017. Georg Andrén was appointed by an extra annual 
assembly as the new Secretary General for Diakonia replacing Bo Forsberg who, will retire at the end of  2017

Alvik, Sweden 22th of  April  2017

Pether Nordin Marianne Claesson
Chairperson of  the Board  Vice Chairperson of  the Board
     

     
Ingela Svedin Ann-Sofie Lasell Christer Daelander
  
   

     
Oskar Permvall Göran Gunner
  
   

     
Bo Forsberg     
Secretary General      

     
My audit report was presented on 25th of  April 2017     
     

Jonas Grahn     
Authorised Public Accountant
Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB     
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this information, conclude that there is a material 
 misstatement of  this other information, I am required 
to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this 
regard.

Responsibilities of  the Board of  Directors and the 
Secretary General
The Board of  Directors and Secretary General are 
responsible for the preparation of  the annual accounts 
and that they give a fair presentation in accordance 
with the Annual Accounts Act. The Board of  Directors 
and the Secretary General are also responsible for such 
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of  annual accounts that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts, The Board of  
Directors and the Secretary General are responsible for 
the assessment of  the association’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. They disclose, as applicable,  matters 
related to going concern and the use of  the going 
concern basis of  accounting. The going concern basis 
of  accounting is however not applied if  the Board of  
Directors and the Secretary General intend to liquidate 
the association, to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the annual accounts as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my  opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of   assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
 conducted in accordance with ISAs and generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstate-
ments can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of  users taken on the basis of  these annual 
accounts. 

As a part of  my audit according to ISA, I under-
take professional judgments and have a professionally 
 sceptical approach during the entire audit. In addition, I 
execute the following activities:

• I identify and assess the risk of  material misstate-
ment in the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and execute audit measures based, amongst other 
things, on these risks and obtain audit evidence 
which is sufficient and appropriate to comprise 

Annual accounts 2016

Auditor’s report
To the annual meeting of  Diakonia
Corporate Identity Number 802017-3517 

Report on the annual accounts 

Opinions
I have audited the annual accounts of  Diakonia for 
2016. 

In my opinion, the annual accounts have been pre-
pared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi-
tion of  the association as of  31 December 2016 and 
of  its financial performance and cash flow for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act. The statutory administration report is consistent 
with the other parts of  the annual accounts.

Basis for Opinions
I conducted my audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities section. I am independent of  the 
association in accordance with professional ethics for 
accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled my 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these require-
ments. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinions.

Other Information than the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts
It is the Board of  Directors and Secretary General who 
have the responsibility for the other information. The 
other information is comprised of  the Annual Report 
for 2016 (but does not include the annual accounts and 
my Auditor’s Report regarding those accounts).  

My opinion on the annual accounts does not cover 
this other information and I do not express any form 
of  assurance conclusion regarding this other informa-
tion.

In connection with my audit of  the annual accounts, 
my responsibility is to read the information identi-
fied above and consider whether the information is 
 materially inconsistent with the annual accounts. In 
this procedure I also take into account my knowledge 
otherwise obtained in the audit and assess whether the 
 information otherwise appears to be materially mis-
stated.

If  I, based on the work performed concerning 
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Revisionsberättelse fortsättning?

the basis of  my opinion. The risk for failing to 
identify material misstatements arising due to 
fraud is greater as regards a material misstatement 
due to error, as fraud can include engagement in 
collusion, forgery, intentional omission, incorrect 
information or disregard of  internal control

• I obtain an understanding of  that portion of  the 
association’s internal control having significance 
to my audit to design audit measures which are 
appropriate with regard to the circumstances but I 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of  
the internal control.

• I evaluate the appropriateness of  the accounting 
policies applied and the reasonability of  the Board 
of  Director’s estimations in the accounts and 
 associated disclosures.

• I test the appropriateness of  the Board of  
 Director’s application of  the assumption of  going 
concern in preparing the annual accounts. I test, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
there are significant factors of   uncertainty 
 referring to such events or circumstances that can 
lead to significant doubt as to the association’s 
capacity to continue its operations. If  I come to 
the conclusion that there are significant factors 
of  uncertainty, I am required to provide a state-
ment in the Auditor’s Report, noting that the 
disclosures in the annual accounts involve factors 
of  uncertainty, provided that such information is 
insufficient, modifying my opinion regarding the 
annual accounts. My conclusions are based on the 
auditor’s evidence obtained up until the date of  
the Auditor’s Report. However, future events or 
circumstances can imply that the association can 
no longer continue its operations.  

• I evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of  the annual accounts, including the 
disclosures, and if  the annual and consolidated 
accounts reflect the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner providing a true and fair view.

I am required to inform the Board of  Directors of, 
amongst other things, the planned scope of  the audit 
and its focus, and the time schedule for the audit. I am 
also required to inform on any significant observations 
made during the audit, including identified significant 
deficiencies in the internal control.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
 requirements

Opinion
In addition to my audit of  the annual accounts, I 
have also audited the administration of  the Board of  
 Directors of  Diakonia for 2016. 

I recommend that the meeting of  the association 

grant the members of  the Board of  Directors discharge 
from liability for the financial year. 

Basis for Opinions
I conducted the audit in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. My responsibil-
ities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities section. I am independent of  
the association in accordance with professional ethics 
for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled 
my ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinions.

Responsibilities of  the Board of  Directors 
The Board of  Directors is responsible for the 
 administration.

Auditor’s responsibility
My objective concerning the audit of  the administra-
tion, and thereby my opinion about discharge from 
liability is to obtain audit evidence to assess with a 
reasonable degree of  assurance whether any member 
of  the Board of  Directors in any material respect has 
undertaken any action or been guilty of  any omission 
which can give rise to liability to the association. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of  assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden 
will always detect actions or omissions that can give rise 
to liability to the association. 

As part of  an audit in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden I exercise pro-
fessional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. The examination of  the adminis-
tration is based primarily on the audit of  the accounts. 
Additional audit procedures performed are based on 
my professional judgement with the starting point in 
risk and materiality. This means that I focus the exami-
nation on such actions, areas and relationships that are 
material for the operations and where deviations and 
violations would have particular importance for the 
association’s situation.  I examine and test decisions 
undertaken, support for decisions, actions taken and 
other  circumstances that are relevant to my opinion.

Stockholm, 25 April  2017
Jonas Grahn    
Authorised Public Accountant  
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Avslutande bildsida?

Gabriella Martinez in Managua, Nicaragua, was 
very depressed when she first met Diakonia's 
partner organization. She was helped to 
recover her self-esteem. She became pregnant 
when she was 15 years old and was close to 
die giving birth to her son. For several years 
she lived together wild the father of the child 
and was subject to physical and psychological 
abuse. -I lived like that during 5 years, but not 
anymore. I have left all that behind me because 
it was not right. Now I live alone with my son, I 
am studying again and have dreams about the 
future. Photo: Melker Dahlstrand.



Diakonia is a Swedish faith-based development organization that works with the most 
 vulnerable people, local partner organizations and other strategic actors for the fulfillment 
of  the right of  all people to live a life in dignity.

www.diakonia.se

Bild ska in.


